GENEALOGY

OF

THE HANNAY FAMILY

BY

WILLIAM V. HANNAY

ALBANY, N. Y. 1913

Hannay (pronounced Han' nay), which comes from Hanna, signifies a chiefman, or leader (German and Saxon); Hanna is Dutch for rooster.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	FAGE
Explanatory	6
Preface	7
Origin of the Name of Hannay	4
Part First	9
Part Second	37
Part Third	51
Part Fourth	51
Part Fifth	52
Part Sixth	5 3
Part Seventh	5 3
Part Eighth	53
Part Ninth	54
Part Tenth	54
Part Eleventh	54
Part Twelfth	54
Appendix I	55
II	59
III	62
IV	62
V	62
VI	62
VII	63
Appendix A	64
B	64
C	64
D	64
Index	65

EXPLANATORY.

The superior figures as (1) following the names of persons in the Genealogy are intended to so identify the particular person whose name they follow, wherever such person's name appears in the Genealogy, as to prevent any confusion which might arise owing to a similarity of names. By means of the combined use of such superior figures and the index of names, the descent of any member of the family from the common ancestor may readily be traced.

b.— born. m.— married.

d.— died.

1st.—first.

2nd.—second.

3rd.—third.

par.—parish.

MS.— manuscript.

R. A.—Royal Army.

R. N.—Royal Navy.

PREFACE.

A family not knowing its ancestry, Is like a brook without a source, And a tree without a root.

The author has many times listened to the disconnected tales of his ancestors, and thinks that the record of their lives should be preserved for future generations, as it might contain something of interest, perchance others in the future might be as interested as I have been.

This log of the Hannay Genealogy is somewhat condensed, as the writer is a youth, and the earliest settlers are back in the tenth and twelfth centuries. I commenced this work in the year 1908, at first the work was slow, but information gradually poured in until the present volume was completed. I have searched the records the New York State Capitol in Albany, N. Y., contained, to some extent, till the great fire of March 29, 1911, which totally destroyed the genealogy records and crippled my work for a time. I have visited old cemeteries and searched family bibles wherever I was able to reach them by travel, also, I have corresponded with several relatives and whoever and wherever I could get any information in regard to the genealogy, and wish to say I have been much pleased with the courteous replies received in answer to my numerous questions.

There are two departments of literature in which the writer is nonplussed as he prosecutes his work, as in preparing a history of early times, when he discovers that the matter of correctly spelling names of persons and places confronts him, also the correct dates. The spelling of the early settlers was notorious; this promiscuous spelling of their names could be straightened out by reference to their signatures. It was the way others wrote their names for them that confused; but nearly every inhabitant wrote his or her name in several styles of spelling. The handwritten records in the Albany, N. Y., City Hall tower, centuries old, have been examined closely.

In the perusal of the records I have had a good deal of trouble in securing the correct dates of settlement, also births, deaths, and marriages. The dates and sketches in this book have been examined by the people which they concern, and acknowledged correct.

If this volume creates an interest and arouses any enthusiasm in any of the descendants it shall have fulfilled its mission and served the purpose for which it was written. These pages are intended only for members of the family.

I have given all the information I could secure regarding any person by the name of Hannay irrespective of what branch of the family they may spring from. In other words, this book is intended as a record of the Hannay Family, not any particular branch of it, and I firmly believe that this book contains the name of every person by the name of Hannay in the United States. I have divided this genealogy into twelve parts, as I have been unable to connect the persons mentioned in any one of these parts with those in any other part. I do not believe, however, that there are twelve distinct branches of the Hannay Family in the United States, but with the means at my command I cannot connect them. I trust, however, that this work may fall in the hands of members of the Hannay Family who will be sufficiently interested to pursue the matter further, and that it may be possible at some later date to connect those branches of the Hannay Family which should be connected.

WILLIAM V. HANNAY.

PART FIRST.

GENEALOGY

of

ANDREW HANNAY, OF SCOTLAND,

and

HIS DESCENDANTS.

ANDREW HANNAY was born in the Town of Galloway, County of Galloway, Scotland, in the year 1733 (see Appendix 1), and married for his first wife a German lady.

Issue —

Tames,2

John,3 m. Adrian Whitmarch.

Andrew,4 m. Mary Ann Swop.

Elizabeth, m. George Swop.

Andrew Hannay married for his second wife a widow named Elizabeth Ricord Towsick.

Issue —

David,6 m. 1st. Hannah TerBush; 2nd. Catharine Huyck. Elizabeth R. Towsick died in 1800. Andrew Hannay married for his third wife a widow named Hannah Wendell.

Issue —

None.

Andrew Hannay d. 1808.

III.

JOHN, son of Andrew Hannay, married Adrian Whitmarch, and resided in Albany County, N. Y.

Issue —

Luther, m. Sarah Whitford.

Dorcas,8 m. Mynard Cole.

Catharine,9 m. Nathan Whitford.

Katy Dorcas,10 m. Frederick Swop.

IV.

ANDREW, son of Andrew Hannay, married Mary Ann Swop.

Issue —

John,¹¹ m. Charity LaPaugh.
Betsey,¹² m. Henry LaPaugh.
Mary Ann,¹³ m. George Prindle.
Andrew A.,¹⁴ m. Elizabeth Wilsey.
Sally,¹⁵ b. Jan. 19, 1811, m. Josiah Jones; d. Jan. 19, 1886.

VI.

DAVID, son of Andrew Hannay and Elizabeth Towsick, b. Oct. 5, 1784, and Miss Hannah TerBush were married Oct. 10, 1805. (See Appendix 2.)

Issue —

Henry T. B.,16 m. Minerva Maby.

Mary,17 m. Jonah Dixon.

Nelson,18 m. Betsey Gage.

Alexander, 19 m. 1st. Marion Hallick; 2nd. Margaret Sherman.

Elizabeth,20 b. Jan. 25, 1816; d. May 14, 1827.

Lodewick,²¹ m. Phæbe Ann Hallick.

Catharine H.,22 m. Nathaniel Saxton.

Andrew D.,23 m. 1st. Hannah Maria Haines; 2nd. Phœbe C. B. LaPaugh.

Ann Maria,²⁴ m. Alonzo Vanderzee.

Abraham,25 m. Mary Wilsey.

David,26 b. Sept. 28, 1826; d. June 22, 1832.

Babe,²⁷ b. Feb. 4, 1829; d. Feb. 4, 1829.

Angeline H.,28 m. Alonzo Green.

David, Jr.,29 m. Ruth A. Welch.

Hannah TerBush died Nov. 2, 1841. David Hannay married for his second wife Catharine Huyck, July 16, 1842.

Issue —

None.

David Hannay d. 1866.

VII.

LUTHER, son of John Hannay³ and Adrian Whitmarch, b. Aug. 18, 1794, and Sarah Whitford, b. Feb. 12, 1798, were married May, 1819.

Eliza Ann,30 b. Dec. 26, 1819; m. Adam H. Haines; d. April 27, 1883.

Mary S.,³¹ b. Nov. 2, 1821; m. Amiel Lockwood; d. Aug. 25, 1851.

Ambrose S.,32 m. Eliza Stanton.

John M.,33 m. Margaret Ann Snyder.

Margaret,34 m. Reuben D. Stanton.

Evaline,³⁵ b. Dec. 21, 1832; m. Abraham Swarthout, 1856; d. March 23, 1888.

Adaline,³⁶ b. Dec. 21, 1832; d. Jan. 21, 1887.

Orson L.,³⁷ m. Elvira Loucks. Theresa,³⁸ m. John S. Rundell.

Sarah Whitford d. June 27, 1870. Luther Hannay d. Jan. 10, 1872.

XI.

JOHN, son of Andrew Hannay⁴ and Mary Ann Swop, married Charity LaPaugh, b. Jan. 15, 1801.

Issue —

Charles,³⁹ m. 1st. Elizabeth R. Dixon⁷³; 2nd. Harriet M. Kirkland.

Andrew,40 m. Mary Deitz.

George,41 m. Phæbe Deitz.

Mary Ann,⁴² m. James O. Castle.

Sally,43 m. 1st. John Bailey; 2nd. James O. Castle.

Lucy,44 m. Leonard Hannay 74.

Lydia, 45 m. George C. Knowles.

Phillip,48 m. Elme Hempstead.

Henry J.,47 m. Emma Brunk.

Charity LaPaugh, d. Oct. 8, 1886.

XII.

BETSEY, daughter of Andrew Hannay ⁴ and Mary Ann Swop, b. May 4, 1808, and Henry LaPaugh, b. Dec. 19, 1802, were married.

Issue —

Eliza Ann, 48 b. Dec. 13, 1826; m. 1st. C. R. Hakes; 2nd. Albert Weaver; 3rd. Nicholas Weidman; d. April 21, 1906.

Phillip,⁴⁹ b. Aug. 11, 1828; m. 1st. Lodasea Vincent; 2nd. Elmira E. Fowler; 3rd. Henrietta Fowler; d. Mar. 27, 1902.

Catharine,⁵⁰ b. Feb. 19, 1831; m. Joseph Babcock, June 17, 1849; d. Feb. 27, 1897.

Betsey Hannay d. April 28, 1841. Henry LaPaugh d. Feb. 13, 1862.

XIV.

ANDREW A., son of Andrew Hannay and Mary Ann Swop, b. March 12, 1799, and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. April 21, 1803, were married Dec. 12, 1821.

Issue —

Almira,⁵¹ m. Edward Spickerman.

Jacob, 52 m. 1st. Maria Badgley; 2nd. Louisa Sperbeck.

Maria,53 m. Joseph Pitcher.

Delia Ann,⁵⁴ m. 1st. Frank Phœneuff; 2nd. Joseph Pitcher.

Isaac,55 m. Susanna Weaver.

George F.,⁵⁶ m. 1st. Catharine M. Matice; 2nd. Elizabeth Shelmantine.

Jane,⁵⁷ b. Nov. 20, 1832; d. May 26, 1834.

Harriet,⁵⁸ b. Nov. 12, 1834; m. Jerry Phœneuff, Dec. 31, 1849; d. Aug. 29, 1862. (See Appendix 4.)

Hamilton F.,59 m. 1st. Naomi Safford; 2nd. Harriet Becker; 3rd. Mary C. Welch.

Ruth,60 b. Mar. 31, 1839; d. Dec. 13, 1839.

Philo S.,61 b. May 14, 1842; d. Feb. 6, 1855.

Elizabeth Wilsey d. Oct. 3, 1871. Andrew A. Hannay d. Nov. 4, 1883.

XVI.

HENRY T. B., son of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah TerBush, b. Mar. 9, 1807, and Minerva Maby, b. June 23, 1807, were married July 1, 1827, and located in Oneida County, N. Y.

Issue —

Ann Augusta,⁶² b. Feb. 3, 1827; m. Johnathan Stanford; d. Aug. 12, 1852.

Lusena A.,63 b. Oct. 30, 1834; m. Johnathan Stanford.

Amiel M.,64 m. Helen Wylie.

Rosella,65 b. May 3, 1838; m. Daniel Chapman; d. 1866. Mary Abigail,66 b. Jan. 23, 1840; m. Horace Miller; d. Nov. 24, 1889.

Theron,⁶⁷ b. June 14, 1841; d. July 2, 1863. (See Appendix 5.)

David H.,68 m. 1st. Ellen C. Quance; 2nd. Maria Lapham. Elnora,69 b. Aug. 10, 1844; m. Cyrus C. Simmons.

George B., 70 m. 1st. Louisa Whitford; 2nd. Phœbe E. C. Williams.

Theresa,⁷¹ b. Nov. 16, 1849; m. 1st. Hiram W. Miller; 2nd. James Mills; d. July(?), 1909.

Henry T. B. Hannay d. Dec. 13, 1879 Minerva Maby d. Oct. 7, 1889.

XVII.

MARY, daughter of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah TerBush, b. June 29, 1808, and Jonah Dixon were married June 3, 1826, and resided in New Baltimore, N. Y.

Issue —

James,⁷² b. Nov. 4, 1826; m. Adalade Fisher, 1865; d. Aug., 1909.

Elizabeth R.,73 m. Charles Hannay 39.

Mary Hannay d. Mar. 2, 1891.

XVIII.

NELSON, son of David Hannay⁸ and Hannah TerBush, b. Oct. 7, 1810, and Betsey Gage, b. March 5, 1813, were married March 31, 1830, and resided near his father.

Issue ---

Leonard,74 m. Lucy Hannay44.

James,⁷⁵ m. Catharine Palmer.

Betsey Gage d. May 1, 1892. Nelson Hannay d. May 29, 1883.

XIX.

ALEXANDER, son of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah Ter-Bush, b. Mar. 23, 1812, and Marion Hallick, b. July 8, 1807, were married June 1, 1833, and located in Saratoga County, N. Y.

Issue —

Edward A.,⁷⁶ m. Amie Stratton.

David A.,77 b. July 22, 1837; d. Jan. 14, 1838.

Carrie,78 m. Henry G. Edmonds.

Marion Hallick died Aug. 31, 1868. Alexander Hannay married for his second wife Margaret Sherman, June 1, 1869.

Issue —

None.

Alexander Hannay d. April 7, 1879. Margaret Sherman d. Aug. 3, 1894.

XXI.

LODEWICK, son of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah TerBush, b. Aug. 19, 1815, and Phœbe Ann Hallick, b. Dec. 15, 1816, were married Nov. 8, 1838, and located in Greene County, N. Y.

Hannah Elizabeth,79 m. David S. Palmer.

Isaiah H.,80 m. Rebecca J. Brunk.

Lodewick Hannay d. Aug. 24, 1892. Phæbe Ann Hallick d. Nov. 17, 1890.

XXII.

CATHARINE H., daughter of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah TerBush, b. Oct. 6, 1817, and Nathaniel Saxton, b. Oct. 22, 1811, were married July 8, 1835, and located in Geneva, Ontario County, N. Y.

Issue —

Hattie,⁸¹ died in infancy.

Dewitt,82 b. Sept. 20, 1843; m. L. Olney, Aug. 31, 1862; d. Sept. 19, 1886.

Catharine Augusta,⁸³ died at the age of 3 yrs., 10 mos., 21 dys.

Charles,84 b. Sept. 8, 1857; m. Josephine Conrow, Sept. 21, 1891.

M. Belle, 85 b. Sept. 28, 1855.

Catharine Hannay d. March 27, 1896. Nathaniel Saxton d. Feb. 7, 1894.

XXIII.

ANDREW D., son of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah TerBush, b. Aug. 29, 1819, and Hannah Maria Haines, b. Feb. 24, 1818, were married Aug. 18, 1851, and until the time of his death he was engaged in carrying on his father's farm.

Issue —

George W.,86 m. Ada Dickson.

Charles A.,87 m. Lydia F. LaPaugh.

Hannah M. Haines died April 30, 1876. Andrew D. Hannay married for his second wife Phæbe C. B. LaPaugh, June 11, 1877. She was born Nov. 7, 1818.

Issue —

None.

Phœbe C. B. LaPaugh d. Jan. 11, 1892. Andrew D. Hannay d. Jan. 3, 1901.

XXIV.

ANN MARIA, daughter of David Hannay 6 and Hannah TerBush, b. Oct. 10, 1821, and Alonzo Vanderzee were married Oct. 6, 1841, and located at St. Louis, Missouri.

Mary Ann,88 b. May 16, 1845; m. Henry T. James, May 25, 1887; d. April 17, 1902.

Hannah Maria,⁸⁹ m. 1st. — James; 2nd. — O'Connell; d. 1901.

Dewitt,⁹¹ died when approaching manhood.

Jessie,⁹² died in infancy.

Ann Maria Hannay d. 1909. Alonzo Vanderzee d. Dec., 1887.

XXV.

ABRAHAM, son of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah TerBush, b. Mar. 21, 1824, and Mary Wilsey, b. June 19, 1825, were married Mar. 3, 1846, and lived in Chesterville, Albany County, N. Y., but in later years moved to Hoboken, N. J., where he died.

Issue —

Helen A., 93 m. Charles H. Loomer. Mary Frances, 94, m. George C. Briggs. Florence, 95 m. Charles D. Leach.

Abraham Hannay d. Jan. 16, 1895.

XXVIII.

ANGELINE H., daughter of David Hannay⁶ and Hannah TerBush, b. Aug. 12, 1831, and Alonzo Green, b. July 24, 1829, were married Feb. 19, 1851, and located a few miles from her father.

Issue —

Lodewick H., 96 m. Augusta Shaver.

Jane,⁹⁷ m. Charles Jones.

David H., 98 b. July 20, 1859; d. July 3, 1891. (See Appendix 6.)

Alonzo Green d. Dec. 10, 1887.

XXIX.

DAVID, JR., son of David Hannay 6 and Hannah TerBush, b. April 1, 1834, and Ruth A. Welch, b. Feb. 2, 1834, were married June 17, 1857, and located in Albany, N. Y.

Issue —

Jennie,99 m. John Wilson.

Willie D.,100 b. Sept. 30, 1862; d. June 3, 1864.

William,¹⁰¹ m. Luella Van Derpoel.

Edward W.,¹⁰² b. Jan. 9, 1873; m. Nora M. DeLaVergne, Dec. 30, 1896.

Ruth A. Welch d. March 15, 1895. David Hannay d. Jan. 11, 1897.

XXXII.

AMBROSE S., son of Luther Hannay and Sarah Whitford, b. March 27, 1824, and Eliza Stanton, b. Aug. 5, 1825, were married Dec. 25, 1856.

Issue —

Ida,¹⁰³ b. March 18, 1863; m. 1st. Charles Applebee, May 28, 1884; 2nd. Peter A. Miller, Dec. 31, 1899. Ambrose S. Hannay d. Jan. 16, 1887.

XXXIII.

JOHN M., son of Luther Hannay and Sarah Whitford, b. Sept. 27, 1826, and Margaret Ann Snyder, b. June 23, 1832, were married Dec. 21, 1853.

Issue —

Jefferson T.,104 m. 1st. Alice Knowles; 2nd. Jennie Ellis. Raymond L.,105 m. Annie St. John.

Harvey J., 106 b. Sept. 1, 1859; d. Feb. 12, 1865.

Fred,107 m. Annie Chamberlain.

John M. Hannay d. Feb. 28, 1909. Margaret A. Snyder d. Nov. 22, 1892.

XXXIV.

MARGARET, daughter of Luther Hannay and Sarah Whitford, b. Jan. 6, 1829, and Reuben D. Stanton, b. Oct. 30, 1823, were married March 4, 1846.

Issue —

Dewitt,¹⁰⁸ b. Dec. 9, 1846; m. Emley Jones, Dec. 14, 1869. Mary A.,¹⁰⁹ b. April 15, 1849; m. Jerome Edwards, Dec. 13, 1871; d. Aug. 14, 1875.

Sophrona H.,110 b. July 29, 1851; d. Aug. 23, 1857.

Lezetta,¹¹¹ b. Aug. 30, 1853; m. John A. Loucks, Dec. 13, 1871; d. Dec. 3, 1885.

Myron L.,¹¹² b. March 17, 1855; d. Oct. 25, 1872.

Frank,¹¹³ b. June 5, 1857; m. Minnie Ahlhof, Dec. 31, 1884. Sarah L.,¹¹⁴ b. Sept. 19, 1860; d. March 21, 1865.

R. Fenton, 115 b. Dec. 26, 1866; m. Mame Putman, July 17, 1894.

Margaret Hannay d. Sept. 4, 1875. Reuben D. Stanton d. Dec. 11, 1885.

XXXVII.

ORSON L., son of Luther Hannay and Sarah Whitford, b. Nov. 12, 1837, and Elvira Loucks, b. April 8, 1840, were married Nov. 6, 1861.

John L.,¹¹⁶ m. 1st. Jessie L. Tremper; 2nd. Vernie A. Bush. Satie T. Rundell,¹¹⁷ b. Oct. 5, 1866, adopted daughter of Orson L. Hannay and Elvira Loucks, m. George A. Cunningham, Sept. 23, 1886.

Orson L. Hannay d. Oct. 3, 1902.

XXXVIII.

THERESA, daughter of Luther Hannay and Sarah Whitford, b. Dec. 27, 1840, and John S. Rundell were married in 1865.

Issue —

Satie T.,¹¹⁷ m. George A. Cunningham, Sept. 23, 1886: Theresa Hannay d. Oct. 28, 1866.

XXXIX.

CHARLES, son of John Hannay 11 and Charity LaPaugh, b. Nov. 2, 1824, and Elizabeth R. Dixon, 78 b. June 7, 1829, were married March 4, 1849.

Issue —

See 73.

Elizabeth R. Dixon died June 9, 1860. Charles Hannay married for his second wife Harriet M. Kirkland, Aug. 14, 1861.

Issue —

Harvey S.,118 m. 1st. Louisa Myers; 2nd. Frances S. Geurder.

Charles Hannay d. May 24, 1874. (See Appendix 3.)

XL.

ANDREW, son of John Hannay 11 and Charity LaPaugh, b. April 19, 1826, and Mary Deitz were married Jan. 11, 1850.

Issue —

Elsie A.,¹¹⁹ m. 1st. Allen C. Sheldon; 2nd. William Atkins. Peter V.,¹²⁰ b. July 16, 1859; m. Mary T. Sprigg, Jan. 25, 1902; Mary d. April, 1906.

Elnora,121 m. William Richards.

Andrew Hannay d. Jan. 9, 1900.

XLI.

GEORGE, son of John Hannay 11 and Charity LaPaugh, b. June 5, 1828, and Phœbe Deitz, b. June 30, 1833, were married July 7, 1852.

Ann Frances,122 m. Frank Hotaling.

Emma,¹²³ b. Sept. 5, 1862; d. Oct. 15, 1862.

Edwin E.,¹²⁴ m. 1st. Anna B. Halstead; 2nd. Martha L. Ford.

Bertha,¹²⁵ b. Nov. 27, 1869; d. Dec. 3, 1869.

Beaman, 126 m. Sarah Jones.

George Hannay d. Oct. 6, 1906. Phœbe Deitz d. May 29, 1909.

XLII.

MARY ANN, daughter of John Hannay ¹¹ and Charity La-Paugh, b. July 10, 1830, and James O. Castle, b. Aug. 3, 1834, were married Sept. 13, 1854.

Issue —

Thomas S.,¹²⁷ b. March 31, 1856; m. Susie Smith, Oct. 14, 1877; d. Jan. 22, 1912. Susie d. June 11, 1913.

Charles R., 128 b. March 29, 1860; d. Sept. 15, 1862.

Belva, 129 b. Aug. 3, 1866; d. Nov. 17, 1871.

Eldora,¹³⁰ b. March 19, 1868; m. Archibald C. Atkins, Dec. 28, 1892.

Anna,¹³¹ b. Aug. 27, 1869; m. Theodore DeLaVergne, Dec. 10, 1890.

Mary Ann Hannay d. April 5, 1898.

XLIII.

SALLY, daughter of John Hannay ¹¹ and Charity LaPaugh, b. Oct. 19, 1832, and John Bailey were married.

Issue —

Amasa,¹³² b. Nov. 16, 1851; m. Alice Sheldon, Sept. 29, 1875.

Lucy, 133 b. March 11, 1857; m. E. S. Brady, Dec. 28, 1882. John Bailey d. Jan. 13, 1884. Sally Hannay married for her second husband James O. Castle, March 25, 1900.

Issue —

None.

XLIV.

LUCY, daughter of John Hannay ¹¹ and Charity LaPaugh, b. Sept. 18, 1834, and Leonard Hannay, ⁷⁴ b. Dec. 18, 1834, were married Nov. 21, 1860.

Issue —

See 74.

Lucy Hannay d. Jan. 27, 1900. Leonard Hannay d. April 26, 1910.

XLV.

LYDIA, daughter of John Hannay ¹¹ and Charity LaPaugh, b. Sept. 18, 1834, and George C. Knowles were married in 1853.

Issue —

Orville A.,¹³⁴ b. May 31, 1855; m. Charlotte O. Britton, Nov. 1884; d. Sept. 22, 1893.

Willis H.,¹³⁵ b. Feb. 22, 1857; m. Estella Weaver, Nov. 8, 1874.

Luella,136 b. May, 1860; d. 1862.

Mary F., 187 b. Dec. 18, 1862; m. John L. Hilzinger, Jan. 4, 1880.

Angie R.,138 b. June 17, 1865; m. John M. Mauhinney, March 20, 1888; d. March 16, 1894.

Lucena L.,¹³⁹ b. May 18, 1871; m. Charles E. Hinckley, Nov. 23, 1892.

Edgar C., 140 b. Jan. 27, 1875; m. Effie C. Palmer, Jan, 1, 1900. Effie d. June 8, 1913.

Lydia Hannay d. Sept. 17, 1910. George C. Knowles d. 1905.

XLVI.

PHILLIP, son of John Hannay 11 and Charity LaPaugh, b. June 9, 1837, and Elme Hempstead were married Feb. 26, 1868.

Issue —

Seldon H.,141 m. Hattie M. Lasher.

Sanford, C.,¹⁴² b. Aug. 8, 1875; m. 1st. Ann Augusta Court, Oct. 12, 1898; d. Nov. 15, 1911; m. 2nd. Lillian Van Alstyne, Dec. 24, 1912. He died July 26, 1913.

Phillip Hannay d. Jan. 17, 1907. Elme Hempstead d. Jan. 27, 1906.

XLVII.

HENRY J., son of John Hannay 11 and Charity LaPaugh, b. March 9, 1843, and Emma Brunk, b. Feb. 16, 1842, were married Nov. 22, 1866.

Issue —

James B.,148 m. 1st. Rozania Van Vlerin; 2nd. Idella Hilson.

Clarence H.,144 m. Georgina Putman.

Ernest C.,145 m. Minnie Carey.

Ethel L.,146 m. Henry J. Hilson.

Henry J. Hannay d. Oct. 21, 1912.

LI.

ALMIRA, daughter of Andrew A. Hannay ¹⁴ and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. Oct. 10, 1822, and Edward Spickerman were married Dec. 26, 1843.

Issue -

Orson,¹⁴⁷ b. Feb. 26, 1845; m. Huldah Roseman, Oct. 27, 1869.

Mary E.,148 b. Nov. 4, 1846; m. Henry Bellinger, Jan. 28, 1874.

Harriet J.,149 b. May 31, 1849; d. June 13, 1868.

Arcelia,¹⁵⁰ b. May 26, 1851; m. Alonzo Zimmerman, Jan. 8, 1874; d. March 20, 1897.

Delia A.,¹⁵¹ b. May 21, 1853; d. Jan. 23, 1897.

Arkel,¹⁵² b. Jan. 1, 1859; m. Amanda Bellinger, June 25, 1870.

Almira Hannay d. Aug. 20, 1889; Edward Spickerman d. Feb. 20, 1874.

LII.

JACOB, son of Andrew A. Hannay ¹⁴ and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. April 8, 1824, and Maria Badgley, b. March 23, 1823, were married Oct. 8, 1848.

Issue —

Ambrose B.,¹⁵³ m. Harriet M. Haner. Stephen A.,¹⁵⁴ b. March 21, 1853; d. Sept. 2, 1907. Mary E., ¹⁵⁵ b. March 21, 1853; d. July 24, 1855. Naomi A.,¹⁵⁶ b. Oct. 31, 1854; d. Dec. 20, 1871. John B.,¹⁵⁷ b. Sept. 1, 1863. (Cripple from birth.) Frank,¹⁵⁸ m. Effie Greene. Elnor J.,¹⁵⁹ b. Oct. 31, 1868. (Cripple from birth.) Jacob Hannay married for his 2nd. wife Louisa Sperbeck, Oct. 1872.

Issue —

None.

Jacob Hannay d. Jan. 9, 1905.

LIII.

MARIA, daughter of Andrew A. Hannay ¹⁴ and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. Sept. 25, 1825, and Joseph Pitcher were married Nov. 17, 1842.

Issue —

Harriet,160 m. David Woods.

Detia,¹⁶¹ b. Feb. 3, 1850; m. Minard R. Bice, March 27, 1867; d. Jan. 4, 1911.

Phœbe,162 m. Lorenzo Boynton; d. Jan. 1, 1890.

Sarah,163 m. Reuben R. Holmes.

Frank L., 164 b. Dec. 24, 1861; m. 1st. Ida Proper, Dec. 24, 1879; d. Feb. 11, 1882; 2nd. Meta Doneburg.

Maria Hannay d. Jan. 1, 1890.

LIV.

DELIA ANN, daughter of Andrew A. Hannay ¹⁴ and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. April 11, 1827, and Frank Phœneuff were married June 1, 1849.

Issue —

Andrew, 165 b. Oct. 19, 1849; m. Alice Mann, Nov. 29, 1871; d. June 27, 1904.

Nora, 166 b. Aug. 7, 1852; m. John S. Akley Oct. 16, 1869; d. June 29, 1906. John d. May 23, 1907.

Frank Phœneuff d. Sept. 1, 1886. Delia Ann Hannay married for her second husband Joseph Pitcher.

Issue —

None.

Delia Ann Hannay d. June 12, 1897.

LV.

ISAAC, son of Andrew A. Hannay ¹⁴ and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. Oct. 31, 1828, and Susanna Weaver, of Germany, b. April 5, 1827, were married April 6, 1854.

Issue —

Catharine E., 167 m. William A. Spaulding.

George B. F., 168 m. Margaretta A. Knox.

Euphema Ann, 169 m. Clarence J. Proper.

Maria,170 m. Martin T. Vroman.

Isaac Hannay d. Nov. 8, 1884. Susanna Weaver d. Jan. 2, 1881.

LVI.

GEORGE F., son of Andrew A. Hannay ¹⁴ and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. Nov. 12, 1830, and Catharine M. Matice, b. Feb. 21, 1836, were married Nov. 15, 1855.

Issue ---

Clara,¹⁷¹ b. June 17, 1859; m. Cassius L. Kingsley, June 2, 1875.

Catharine M. Matice died Nov. 21, 1863. George F. Hannay married for his second wife Elizabeth Shelmantine, Sept. 21, 1864.

Hattie,¹⁷² b. July 29, 1869; d. Sept. 28, 1874. Myra,¹⁷³ b. Jan. 17, 1872; m. Newton J. Dibble, Sept. 25, 1895. He died Sept. 23, 1910. George F. Hannay d. March 23, 1902.

LIX.

HAMILTON, F., son of Andrew A. Hannay ¹⁴ and Elizabeth Wilsey, b. March 1, 1837, and Naomi Safford were married April 27, 1859.

Issue —

Addie E.,¹⁷⁴ b. Aug. 12, 1861; m. Frederick B. Shaver, Nov. 27, 1885; d. Oct. 5, 1886.

Edward S.,175 m. Sarah L. Wood. (See Appendix 7.)

Hattie,¹⁷⁶ b. Sept. 30, 1865; m. Wellington Harris, March 12, 1890; d. Dec. 20, 1898. Wellington d. Feb. 17, 1912. Carrie M.,¹⁷⁷ b. March 3, 1864; m. William Woods, Dec. 31, 1881.

Ursula,¹⁷⁸ b. Feb. 24, 1870; m. Austin Cuyle, March 12, 1894; d. Dec. 17, 1898.

Ford H.,179 m. Minnie Gould.

Naomi Safford died Nov. 29, 1889. Hamilton F. Hannay married for his second wife Harriet Becker.

Issue —

None.

Harriet Becker died March 19, 1896. Hamilton F. Hannay married for his third wife Mary C. Welch, of Ohio, April 20, 1897.

ISSUE —

None.

LXIV.

AMIEL M., son of Henry T. B. Hannay ¹⁶ and Minerva Maby, b. June 6, 1836, and Helen Wylie were married Sept. 12, 1861.

Issue —

David H., 180 b. Sept. 21, 1862; d. Feb. 28, 1878.

Frank T.,¹⁸¹ m. Elizabeth Fox.

Minerva, 182 b. Feb. 28, 1867; d. March 25, 1867.

Elizabeth, 183 b. Aug. 15, 1869; m. George L. Stevens, Nov. 20, 1901.

Gracie, 184 b. Sept. 1, 1878; m. Raymond E. Salisbury, Oct. 10, 1903.

Willard A., 185 b. April 4, 1881; m. Genivieve Swan, Nov. 6, 1912.

Helen Wylie d. March 6, 1903.

LXVIII.

DAVID H., son of Henry T. B. Hannay ¹⁶ and Minerva Maby, b. Oct. 21, 1842, and Ellen C. Quance were married Sept. 9, 1866.

Issue —

Ameretta, 186 b. Nov. 12, 1867; m. Jesse Deeby, 1882; d. July 31, 1886.

Estella A.,¹⁸⁷ b. Aug. 1, 1869; m. Mason H. Barney, March 25, 1891.

Hattie S.,188 b. April 14, 1871; d. Jan. 2, 1887.

Thyrza, 189 b. Feb. 7, 1873; d. Aug. 8, 1881.

Stroble, E.,190 m. Bertha M. Kimball.

Lucetta R.,¹⁹¹ b. Aug. 23, 1876; m. William Farrington; d. Nov. 26, 1901.

Emery, 192 b. Feb. 17, 1879; d. Feb. 20, 1905.

David H.,¹⁹³ b. May 31, 1880; m. Charlotte P. Skinner, Aug. 18, 1900; d. Dec. 11, 1900.

Bertha M., 194 b. Jan. 1, 1884; m. William Wilson.

Ellen C. Quance died July 12, 1884. David H. Hannay married for his second wife Maria Lapham, 1888.

Issue —

None.

LXX.

GEORGE B., son of Henry T. B. Hannay 16 and Minerva Maby, b. April 16, 1846, and Louisa Whitford were married Jan. 7, 1870.

Issue -

Leonard, 195 m. Lottie McJunken.

George B., Jr., 196 b. Jan. 25, 1872.

Maud,¹⁹⁷ b. Feb. 1, 1874; m. Frederick Sollitt.

Ernest,198 b. Sept. 27, 1875; d. 1907.

Cornelius, 199 b. May 17, 1878; d. 1907.

Howard,²⁰⁰ b. Sept. 21, 1879; d. 1905.

Mary,²⁰¹ b. Nov. 7, 1881; m. Thomas H. Conners.

Edwin,²⁰² b. Oct. 8, 1884.

Eva,²⁰³ b. Sept. 23, 1890.

Louisa Whitford d. April 21, 1897. George B. Hannay, married for his 2nd. wife Phœbe E. C. Williams, Nov. 16, 1898.

Issue —

None.

George B., d. April 15, 1911.

LXXIII.

ELIZABETH R., daughter of Mary Hannay ¹⁷ and Jonah Dixon, b. June 9, 1829, and Charles Hannay, ³⁹ b. Nov. 2, 1824, were married March 4, 1848.

Issue —

Adelia C.,204 b. Nov. 10, 1848; d. Jan. 10, 1859.

Albertie M.,²⁰⁵ b. April 8, 1851; d. Jan. 8, 1859.

Mary E.,206 b. Nov. 4, 1856; d. Jan. 20, 1859.

Elizabeth R., died Jan. 9, 1860. Charles Hannay married for his 2nd. wife Harriet M. Kirkland, Aug. 14, 1861.

Issue —

See 118.

LXXIV.

LEONARD, son of Nelson Hannay 18 and Betsey Gage, b. Dec. 18, 1834, and Lucy Hannay, 44 b. Sept. 18, 1834, were married Nov. 21, 1860.

Issue —

Frank,²⁰⁷ m. Hattie Stott.

Almond,²⁰⁸ m. Celicia Cunningham.

Luella,²⁰⁹ b. July 28, 1872; m. William Covenhogen, b. May 9, 1866, were married Aug. 31, 1892.

Lucy Hannay d. Jan. 27, 1900. Leonard Hannay d. April 26, 1910.

LXXV.

JAMES, son of Nelson Hannay 18 and Betsey Gage, b. Jan. 7, 1838, and Catharine Palmer, b. Feb. 16, 1837, were married Dec. 24, 1861.

Issue —

Infant Son,²¹⁰ b. Sept. 4, 1862; d. Sept. 4, 1862.

Bertha,²¹¹ b. Oct. 15, 1864; m. Frank M. Hill, April 30, 1884.

Byron,²¹² b. July 9, 1868; d. Sept. 15, 1869.

Belvia,²¹³ b. July 9, 1869; m. Grenville Houghtailing, Feb. 10, 1882.

James Hannay d. July 12, 1900.

LXXVI.

EDWARD A., son of Alexander Hannay 19 and Marion Hallick, b. Dec. 2, 1834, and Amie Stratton were married Dec. 4, 1865.

Alexander S.,²¹⁴ m. 1st. Caroline A. Bagg; 2nd. Sarah F. Becker.

Jay B.,215 m. Hattie Durham.

Elizabeth,²¹⁶ b. July 19, 1870; m. Howard Strang, Nov. 20, 1888.

Edward A. Hannay d. May 4, 1871.

LXXVIII.

CARRIE, daughter of Alexander Hannay 19 and Marion Hallick, b. Jan. 5, 1849, and Henry G. Edmonds, b. Sept. 5, 1845, were married Jan. 20, 1869.

Issue —

Charles,²¹⁷ b. July 20, 1870; d. June 21, 1881.

Edward,²¹⁸ b. June 4, 1873; d. Oct. 1, 1873.

Ada M., ²¹⁹ b. Feb. 26, 1880; m. D. C. Hancock, June 15, 1894.

Henry L.,²²⁰ b. July 19, 1882; m. J. Mae Moss, June 12, 1906.

Bessie F.,²²¹ b. June 6, 1884; m. 1st. V. W. Babcock, July 22, 1902; 2nd. Alexander Adams, Oct. 26, 1911.

Jennie,²²² b. Jan. 8, 1886; m. E. H. Casey, Nov. 23, 1907. Arthur,²²³ b. June 13, 1888.

LXXIX.

HANNAH ELIZABETH, daughter of Lodewick Hannay ²¹ and Phoebe Ann Hallick, b. Feb. 22, 1843, and David S. Palmer were married Dec. 24, 1861.

Issue —

Cora E.,²²⁴ b. Jan. 10, 1863; m. Philo B. Whitbeck, Jan. 12, 1887.

Almond D.,²²⁵ b. Aug. 19, 1864; m. Jennie M. Shafer, Sept. 21, 1887.

Jewett S.,²²⁶ b. Feb. 17, 1866; m. Julia E. Shafer, Feb. 20, 1889.

Hannah Elizabeth Hannay d. Jan. 30, 1888.

LXXX.

ISAIAH H., son of Lodewick Hannay²¹ and Phœbe Ann Hallick, b. Sept. 22, 1839, and Rebecca J. Brunk were married March 25, 1863.

Issue —

David L.,²²⁷ b. March 30, 1864; m. Dorie Palmer, Dec. 20, 1883.

None.

David L. Hannay married for his 2nd. wife Addie M. Whitbeck, Oct. 19, 1899.

Isaiah H. Hannay d. Dec. 1, 1909. Rebecca J. Brunk d. Dec. 24, 1911.

LXXXVI.

GEORGE W., son of Andrew D. Hannay ²³ and Hannah Maria Haines, b. Oct. 5, 1851, and Ada Dickson were married Jan. 19, 1876.

Issue —

Gracie,228 b. Aug. 25, 1883; d. Jan. 18, 1884.

Orville,²²⁹ m. Martha Barkman.

Adella M.,²³⁰ b. May 6, 1887; m. Walter A. Barnum, Feb. 16, 1913.

Estella,²³¹ b. May 6, 1887; m. Eugene M. Hunt, May 31, 1911.

George W. Hannay d. Feb. 28, 1912.

LXXXVII.

CHARLES A., son of Andrew D. Hannay ²³ and Hannah Maria Haines, b. Sept. 29, 1855, and Lydia F. LaPaugh, b. April 6, 1859, were married Jan. 3, 1878.

Issue —

Reuben,²³² b. Aug. 22, 1882. Ivan V.,²³³ b. Sept. 14, 1893.

XCIII.

HELEN A., daughter of Abraham Hannay ²⁵ and Mary Wilsey, b. Feb. 16, 1849, and Charles H. Loomer were married May 24, 1870.

Issue —

Bertha M.,²³⁴ b. Sept. 23, 1871. Ethel F.,²³⁵ b. June 25, 1874; d. April 3, 1875. Helen A. Hannay d. Sept. 19, 1908.

XCIV.

MARY FRANCES, daughter of Abraham Hannay ²⁵ and Mary Wilsey, b. Aug. 17, 1852, and George C. Briggs were married April 7, 1878.

Maud F.,²³⁶ b. Jan. 28, 1879; m. 1st Gustav Merk, Oct. 14, 1903; 2nd. Russell T. Briggs, July 29, 1906.

Helen E.,²³⁷ b. Aug. 17, 1882; m. Charles M. Evans, April

Edward F.,²³⁸ b. Jan. 25, 1884; m. Anna K. Schnieder, Feb. 14, 1911.

George M.,²³⁹ b. Oct. 22, 1887.

Mary Frances Hannay d. Nov. 7, 1912.

XCV.

FLORENCE, daughter of Abraham Hannay ²⁵ and Mary Wilsey ,b. June 8, 1857, and Charles D. Leach were married Oct. 20, 1877.

Issue —

Frank H.,²⁴⁰ b. March 9, 1880; m. Adela Pompaney, May 30, 1906.

Charles D.,²⁴¹ b. May 20, 1883; m. Johanna Schultze, Oct. 11, 1910.

XCVI.

LODEWICK H., son of Angeline H. Hannay ²⁸ and Alonzo Green, b. May 13, 1859, and Augusta Shaver were married Jan. 14, 1883.

Issue —

Edna M.,²⁴² b. Oct. 17, 1883; m. Raymond Story, Dec. 29, 1906.

Rosie A.,²⁴³ b. June 18, 1885; m. Milo Roe, Dec. 20, 1905. Hattie M.,²⁴⁴ b. April 27, 1888. Helen,²⁴⁵ b. Oct. 8, 1893.

XCVII.

JANE, daughter of Angeline H. Hannay ²⁸ and Alonzo Green, b. Feb. 13, 1853, and Charles Jones were married Dec. 10, 1873.

Issue —

Florence E.,²⁴⁶ b. Sept. 29, 1874; m. George J. Hotaling,²⁶⁷ Oct. 23, 1895.

XCVIX.

JENNIE, daughter of David Hannay ²⁹ and Ruth A. Welch, b. July 15, 1859, and John Wilson, b. Aug. 11, 1850, were married Feb. 23, 1882.

Ruth,²⁴⁷ b. Aug. 1, 1884; d. May 8, 1891. Jean H.,²⁴⁸ b. Feb. 9, 1887; m. Winfield E. S. Teator, July 2, 1912. John,²⁴⁹ b. June 8, 1889.

CI.

WILLIAM, son of David Hannay ²⁹ and Ruth A. Welch, b. Oct. 3, 1865, and Luella Van Derpoel, b. March 4, 1868, were married June 27, 1893.

Issue —

Ruth,²⁵⁰ b. April 27, 1894; d. Sept. 16, 1894. William V.,²⁵¹ b. May 22, 1896.

CIII.

IDA, daughter of Ambrose Hannay 32 and Eliza Stanton, b. March 18, 1863, and Charles Applebee were married May 28, 1884.

Issue —

Matie E.,252 b. Dec. 31, 1884; m. Burt Gibbons June 4, 1912.

Albert,²⁵³ b. Oct. 25, 1888; m. Myrtle Wieldy May 11, 1910.

Charles Applebee died May 21, 1891. Ida married for her second husband Peter A. Miller, Dec. 31, 1899.

Issue —

None.

CIV.

JEFFERSON T., son of John M. Hannay 33 and Margaret Ann Snyder, b. Dec. 23, 1855, and Alice Knowles were married Oct. 4, 1880.

Issue —

LeRoy,²⁵⁴ b. July 12, 1889; m. Emma M. Seaman, June 15, 1910.

Alice Knowles died Jan. 28, 1905. Jefferson T. Hannay married for his second wife Jennie Ellis, Oct. 1, 1905.

Issue —

CV.

RAYMOND L., son of John M. Hannay 33 and Margaret Ann Snyder, b. June 17, 1857, and Annie St. John were married Oct. 4, 1882.

Ward Lounsbury,²⁵⁵ b. Feb. 15, 1888, adopted son of Raymond L. Hannay and Annie St. John.

CVII.

FREDERICK, son of John M. Hannay 3 and Margaret Ann Snyder, b. Sept. 2, 1868, and Annie Chamberlain were married Nov. 18, 1891.

Issue —

Jesse C.,²⁵⁶ b. April 12, 1893. Willie M.,²⁵⁷ b. Nov. 17, 1900; d. Oct. 22, 1905.

CXVI.

JOHN L., son of Orson L. Hannay ³⁷ and Elvira Loucks, b. May 20, 1872, and Jessie L. Tremper were married Feb. 21, 1900.

Issue —

John M.,258 b. May 24, 1904.

Jessie L. Tremper died May 25, 1904. John L. Hannay married for his second wife Vernie A. Bush, Sept. 6, 1905.

Issue —

None.

Vernie A. Bush d. Nov. 5, 1912.

CXVIII.

HARVEY S., son of Charles Hannay 39 and Harriet M. Kirkland, b. Jan. 12, 1864, and Louisa Myers were married Jan. 21, 1891.

Issue —

Lillian M.,²⁵⁹ b. Oct. 28, 1891.

Louisa Myers died. Harvey S. Hannay married for his second wife Frances S. Guerder, Aug. 4, 1902. (By his second wife he had one stepdaughter, Rozania, b. July, 1895. Frances and her daughter Rozania met their death in the Slocum disaster of June 15, 1904.)

Issue —

None.

CXIX.

ELSIE A., daughter of Andrew Hannay 40 and Mary Deitz, b. Dec. 22, 1856, and Allen C. Sheldon were married Jan. 31, 1875.

Gertie M.,²⁶⁰ b. Oct. 25, 1878; m. Charles J. Gregory, April 17, 1898.

Eva E.,²⁶¹ b. May 31, 1881; m. Chancey V. Atkins, Oct. 29, 1901.

Ethel,²⁶² b. May 22, 1885; d. April 4, 1888.

Allen C. Sheldon died March 6, 1907. Elsie A. Hannay married for her second husband William Atkins, Sept. 23, 1909.

Issue —

None.

CXXI.

ELNORA, daughter of Andrew Hannay 40 and Mary Deitz, b. Dec. 26, 1871, and William Richards were married May 4, 1895.

Issue —

Charles,²⁶³ b. Sept. 28, 1896.

Ivan,²⁶⁴ b. July 28, 1899.

Baby Boy,²⁶⁵ b. March 16, 1902, and was adopted by James Howes.

Elnora Hannay d. April 3, 1902.

CXXII.

ANN FRANCES, daughter of George Hannay ⁴¹ and Phœbe Deitz, b. June 6, 1853, and Frank Hotaling were married Feb. 1, 1871.

Issue -

Herbert,²⁶⁶ b. Dec. 10, 1872; m. Harriet Van Derpoel, Sept. 27, 1893.

George J.,²⁶⁷ b. May 1, 1875; m. Florence E. Jones,²⁴⁶ Oct. 23, 1895.

Eugene,268 b. April 5, 1891.

CXXIV.

EDWIN E., son of George Hannay ⁴¹ and Phœbe Deitz, b. Feb. 19, 1867, and Anna B. Halstead, b. Jan. 24, 1870, were married Dec. 10, 1890.

Issue —

None.

Anna B. Halstead died Oct. 1, 1891. Edwin E. Hannay married for his second wife Martha L. Ford, June 27, 1893.

Clifford B.,²⁶⁹ b. May 14, 1894. George,²⁷⁰ b. Aug. 9, 1896. Edwin E.,²⁷¹ b. April 25, 1898. Hamilton F.,²⁷² b. March 5, 1902. Anna Louisa,²⁷³ b. Oct. 4, 1905.

CXXVI.

BEAMAN, son of George Hannay ⁴¹ and Phœbe Deitz, b. Nov. 27, 1869, and Sarah Jones were married Sept. 26, 1900.

Issue —

Lucille,274 b. July 11, 1901.

CXLI.

SELDON H., son of Phillip Hannay ⁴⁶ and Elme Hempstead, b. Feb. 27, 1871, and Hattie M. Lasher were married Feb. 17, 1895.

Issue —

Marjorie,²⁷⁵ b. March 20, 1898.

CXLIII.

JAMES B., son of Henry J. Hannay ⁴⁷ and Emma Brunk, b. Oct. 3, 1868, and Rozania Van Vlerin were married Jan. 20, 1888.

Issue —

None.

James B. Hannay married for his second wife Idella Hilson, June 10, 1891.

Issue ---

Everett J.,²⁷⁶ b. Feb. 3, 1900. Hubert W.,²⁷⁷ b. Nov. 29, 1903. Brunk,²⁷⁸ b. Nov. 10, 1905.

CXLIV.

CLARENCE H., son of Henry J. Hannay ⁴⁷ and Emma Brunk, b. May 27, 1871, and Georgina Putman were married Aug. 12, 1894.

Issue —

Raymond C.,279 b. June 28, 1895.

CXLV.

ERNEST C., son of Henry J. Hannay ⁴⁷ and Emma Brunk, b. Sept. 23, 1873, and Minnie Carey were married April 16, 1905.

Issue —

Henry C.,²⁸⁰ b. June 23, 1905. Beatrice E.,²⁸¹ b. March 14, 1906.

CXLVI.

ETHEL L., daughter of Henry J. Hannay ⁴⁷ and Emma Brunk, b. Sept. 4, 1878, and Henry J. Hilson were married Nov. 24, 1898.

Issue —

Edith,²⁸² b. July 1, 1899. Erven,²⁸³ b. July 1, 1899. Idella,²⁸⁴ b. Dec. 20, 1909.

CLIII.

AMBROSE BADGLEY, son of Jacob Hannay 52 and Maria Badgley, b. Aug. 10, 1849, and Harriet M. Haner, b. Nov. 28, 1850, were married Oct. 2, 1870.

Issue -

Victor Emanuel,²⁸⁵ b. Oct. 20, 1874; d. Nov., 1879. Flora Belle,²⁸⁶ b. Jan. 6, 1877; m. Frank S. Fancher, Oct. 2, 1895.

Lynn Deforest,²⁸⁷ b. July 30, 1879; d. May 15, 1899. Lola May,²⁸⁸ b. May 14, 1881; m. J. K. Lester, Nov. 26, 1902.

Addie Estelle,²⁸⁹ b. April 24, 1883. Jessie H.,²⁹⁰ b. Feb. 21, 1887; m. Dewey B. Fuller, Dec. 21,

Joe Burdette,²⁹¹ b. Dec. 10, 1892.

CLVIII.

FRANK, son of Jacob Hannay 52 and Maria Badgley, b. March 5, 1866, and Effie Greene were married Dec. 22, 1895.

Issue —

Dorothy E.,²⁹² b. March 4, 1911, adopted daughter of Frank Hannay and Effie Greene.

CLXVII.

CATHARINE E., daughter of Isaac Hannay ⁵⁵ and Susanna Weaver, b. Jan. 27, 1855, and William A. Spaulding were married March 14, 1877.

Issue —

Evenie L.,293 b. Jan. 8, 1879; d. May 16, 1879.

Arthur J.,294 b. June 18, 1880; d. Feb. 4, 1902.

Arkel,²⁹⁵ b. Feb. 19, 1882; m. Gracie Van Wie, Nov. 29, 1905.

Joseph C.,296 b. Dec. 12, 1883; m. Margaret Staley, Oct. 6, 1000.

Corie J.,²⁹⁷ b. Oct. 23, 1885; m. Ezra Van Wie, June 6, 1909.

Hannay A.,²⁹⁸ b. April 28, 1889.

Ruth L.,299 b. Jan. 18, 1892; d. Feb. 25, 1893.

Alice B.,³⁰⁰ b. June 15, 1894. Marchi,³⁰¹ b. Sept. 6, 1896.

CLXVIII.

GEORGE B. F., son of Isaac Hannay ⁵⁵ and Susanna Weaver, b. June 3, 1857, and Margaretta A. Knox, b. Jan. 12, 1862, were married May 1, 1886.

Issue —

Meta Knox,³⁰² b. May 28, 1887. Muriel Mauricia,³⁰³ b. April 23, 1893.

CLXIV.

EUPHEMA ANN, daughter of Isaac Hannay ⁵⁵ and Susanna Weaver, b. Dec. 21, 1860, and Clarence J. Proper were married Nov. 29, 1879.

Issue —

Laverne,304 b. Nov. 14, 1880.

Euphema Ann Hannay d. Oct. 19, 1908. Clarence J. Proper d. July 25, 1909.

CLXX.

MARIA, daughter of Isaac Hannay ⁵⁵ and Susanna Weaver, b. Jan. 11, 1867, and Martin T. Vroman were married Sept. 18, 1883.

Issue —

Edwin C.,305 b. July 8, 1885. Grace M.,306 b. Sept. 2, 1886. Minnie R.,307 b. Sept. 22, 1889.

CLXXV.

EDWIN S., son of Hamilton F. Hannay ⁵⁹ and Naomi Safford, b. Sept. 12, 1862, and Sarah L. Wood were married Nov. 4, 1883.

Issue —

Ethel G.,³⁰⁸ b. Aug. 11, 1890; m. Ernest D. Goeldner, Dec. 23, 1911. Ford E.,³⁰⁹ b. Jan. 14, 1892.

CLXXIX.

FORD H., son of Hamilton F. Hannay ⁵⁹ and Naomi Safford, b. Dec. 25, 1876, and Minnie Gould were married Nov. 3, 1897.

Issue —

Harold E.,³¹⁰ b. March 30, 1900. Howard,³¹¹ b. Jan. 14, 1907.

CLXXXI.

FRANK T., son of Amiel M. Hannay 64 and Helen Wylie, b. Dec. 20, 1864, and Elizabeth Fox were married June 27, 1899.

Issue —

Helen,³¹² b. Jan. 18, 1901; d. April, 1911. George,³¹³ b. July 25, 1901. May,³¹⁴ b. Feb. 10, 1904. Paul,³¹⁵ b. Sept. 20, 1905. Kenneth,³¹⁶ b. June 4, 1906; d. July 14, 190–.

CXC.

STROBLE E., son of David H. Hannay 68 and Ellen C. Quance, b. Sept. 18, 1874, and Bertha M. Kimball were married March 24, 1896.

Issue —

Mildred M.,³¹⁷ b. Jan. 31, 1897; d. Jan. 31, 1897. Ethel M.,³¹⁸ b. Jan. 1, 1899. Franklin S.,³¹⁹ b. April 13, 1900. Willard H.,³²⁰ b. March 7, 1903. Caroline H.,³²¹ b. April 22, 1905.

CCVII.

FRANK, son of Leonard Hannay ⁷⁴ and Lucy Hannay, ⁴⁴ b. April 17, 1863, and Hattie Stott were married May 28, 1889.

Orastes F.,³²² b. Oct. 7, 1891. Agnes Mae,³²³ b. May 29, 1894. Frank Hannay d. Dec. 27, 1895.

CCVIII.

ALMOND, son of Leonard Hannay ⁷⁴ and Lucy Hannay, ⁴⁴ b. May 20, 1866, and Celicia Cunningham were married Oct. 30, 1890.

Issue —

Bessie M.,³²⁴ b. May 1, 1893; m. Clifford Lockwood, Jan. 19, 1913. Helena,³²⁵ b. May 24, 1899.

CCXIV.

ALEXANDER S., son of Edward A. Hannay ⁷⁶ and Amie Stratton, b. March 3, 1867, and Caroline A. Bagg were married Dec. 31, 1889.

Issue —

Lillian B.,³²⁶ b. April 25, 1893. Viola G.,³²⁷ b. July 28, 1894.

Caroline A. Bagg died June 8, 1895. Alexander S. Hannay married for his second wife Sarah F. Becker, April 4, 1897.

Issue —

Issue —

Bertha E.,³²⁸ b. March 5, 1904. Charles E.,³²⁹ b. May 31, 1906. Sarah F. Becker d. Jan. 5, 1910.

CCXV.

JAY B., son of Edward A. Hannay ⁷⁶ and Amie Stratton, b. June 13, 1868, and Harriet Durham were married Jan. 1, 1890.

Edward A.,³³⁰ b. Dec. 1, 1890. Ralph D.,³³¹ b. Dec. 17, 1892. Marion A.,³³² b. Nov. 11, 1894. Harriet A.,³³³ b. Sept. 16, 1906. Mildred D.,³³⁴ b. June 21, 1900.

CCXXIX.

ORVILLE, son of George W. Hannay ⁸⁶ and Ada Dickson, b. Sept. 5, 1880, and Martha Barkman were married Jan. 5, 1905.

Issue —

Florence, 885 b. Oct. 20, 1905.

PART SECOND.

* Hannay, of Sorbie in Wigtownshire, a family of great antiquity, traceable from the earliest period. In the public records, among the powerful chiefs of Galloway who swore fealty to Edward I, occur the McCullock's, the McDowall's, the Hannay's and the Adair's. While Edward I was enjoying a temporary triumph by force and fraud over the Kingdom of Scotland, there came up as Wigtownshire landholders in 1296 and signed the Ragman's Roll, two gentlemen, Gilbert de Hanneth and Gilbert de Anneth, who are recognized by antiquaries (Chalmer's Caledonia, Vol. 3, 389) as the ancestors of this race. That they were not native Galwegians is evident enough, for the only places from which the name could be taken were parishes in England and the prefix of "de," which also assumed of "a," continued in use by the family down to the time of Charles I. But, without going into the question of the first assumption of what was clearly a Teutonic name, — there is no doubt that at this early date, when the Baliol's (and perhaps the Veterpont's), and the Toskirton's held possessions in Galloway — the DeHanneth's or De-Hannaye's were of great consequence. At an early period a whole district of Wigtownshire — The Machers — was called Machers — Hannay from their possessions there. The ruins of their castle and its site still display vestiges of the ancient importance of the house in the parish of Sorbie.

John Ahannay, of Sorbie, a witness to Sheriff Patrick Agnew's marriage contract March 22, 1625, unfortunately renewed an old blood feud with the Murrays of Broughton through which his family had already suffered much, and from excesses committed, he, incurring further fines and escheats, was obliged to part with the remainder of his lands with "The old Place," which was sold to the Lord Galloway, also his lands of Craillock. John Ahannay was killed in a

quarrel.

Lord Galloway, like many of the Wigtownshire landowners, became impoverished so much so that he used to rent out his beautiful Scottish home (Sorbie Castle), and seek a cheaper domicile for himself; of late years, however, he has retrieved and is again living in his ancestral home.

^{*} See Appendix A.

We find in the Lochew Charter Chest first contract entered into betwix Sir Patrick Agnew, of Lochew, and John Ahannay, of Sorbie, whereby said John, with consent specified, sold and under reversion by way of Wadsett disposed the lands of Crelock, now Craillock, to the said Sir Patrick the 29th of June, 1625.

Their arms occur in the celebrated MS. volume of emblazonments of Sir David Lindsay of the Mount. Lord Lyon, King at Arms, Sorbie-place, the seat of the family from the reign of King James IV, was anciently a tower of some strength and is now a picturesque ruin surrounded with woods, about a mile east of the village of Sorbie. There are still to be traced the remains of a fosse in the eastern side

where the land is rising.

Various people under the name of Hannay appear in the Scottish Society records as: Thomas Hannay, in Monorgand; Katharine Pearson, spouse of Andro Hannay, parish of Forgund, Aug. 27, 1596; Marion McBryde, sometime spouse to Andro Ahannay in Gass, parish of Glenluce, sheriff of Wigtown, July 26, 1603; John Hannay of the Canongate, March 8, 1604; William Hannay, in Banytown of Eglischomie, Jan. 14, 1605; Thomas Hannay in Patnek, parish of Killstew of Kirkoudbright, Feb. 23, 1607; Marion Paterson, spouse to William Hannay in Pinmoir, May 15, 1613; Marion Hannay, spouse to James Cuthbert at Mounkloumilne, parish of Monktown, May 10, 1615; Malie Hannay, in Trabeoche, parish of Ochiltrie, Sept. 19, 1615; John Hannay, in Burne, parish of Riccartoune, Aug. 25, 1618; Jonet Colmonell, spouse to Alexander Hannay, March 30, 1627; Margaret Hannay, spouse to James Anderson, at the Mylne of Monargund, parish of Langforgund, Aug. 24, 1627; John H. Hannay, of the Canongate, March 28, 1628; Patrick Hannay, in Knokdolliane, parish of Colmonell, Aug. 20, 1633; James Hannay, son to Hew H., in the Canongate with William Castillair, Nov. 21, 1634; Hew H. Hannay, in the Canongate, Jan. 21, 1637; John Hannay, in Milnnetown of Martnine, parish of Maybole, July 31, 1637; William Hannay, in Ballernoche, March 22, 1650; Robert Hannay, in Glasgow, Oct. 25, 1653; James Hannay, in Edinburgh, Feb. 27, 1655; James Hannay, May 8, 1655; Archibald Hannay, of Edinburgh, June 27, 1655; George Hannay, son to the late Archibald H., with John Cunningham, Jr., Sept. 9, 1663; John Hannay, in Loanheid of Stevinstoune, parish of Stevinstoune, Aug. 1, 1664; Patrick Hannay, of Lambeth Co. of Scurrey, England, Oct. 18, 1665; Jonet, spouse to John Hannay of Maybole, April 3, 1666; Jonet Hannay, spouse to William Marchland, in Rowalland, parish of Kilmarnock, Aug. 7, 1666; David Hannay, in Delmellingtown, Aug. 11, 1668; Alexander, son lawful to Alexander H. Hannay, in

Alloway, Nov. 16, 1669; George Hannay, of Edinburgh, March 23, 1673; Jonet McAdam, spouse to Gilbert Hannay, in Knokdom, July 10, 1672; Agnes, daughter lawful to Alexander Hannay, in Dykeheid, parish of Alloway, March 4, 1675; Gilbert Hannay, in Knockskaith, parish of Dalmellingtown, May 4, 1677; Bessie and Andro Hannay, April 17, 1679; Isobel, spouse to Gilbert Hannay, parish of Maybole, May 14, 1683; Bessie Thomson, spouse to Richard Hannay, Feb. 21, 1684; William Hannay, July 17, 1691; William Hannay, of the Canongate, June 25, 1696; John Hannay, of Carrick, parish of Maybole, Feb. 27, 1721, and June 6, 1733; Robert Hannay, of Kingsuir and of Edinburgh, July 15, 1725; Helen Hannay, relict of David Niver, of Waltrees, parish of Maybole, Feb. 6, 1738, and Aug. 9, 1740; Christian Skirvar, relict of Thomas Hannay, in Glasgow, Feb. 22, 1742; William Hannay, in Glenthrey, parish of Straiton, June 28, 1746; Capt. William Hannay, of Kingsmuir, parish of Deninow, July 14, 1747; James Hannay, in Hackerstown or Halkerstown, Sept. 6, 1748; Abigail Hannay, lawful daughter to Robert H. Hannay, in Ayr, Jan. 10, 1752; Thomas, son lawful to the deceased Thomas Hannay, in Glasgow, Dec. 27, 1755; Mary Hathaway relict of Capt. William Hannay, of Kingsmuir, parish of Anstruther Easter, May 26, 1777; William Hannay, in craft of Dunnure, parish of Maybole, June 1, 1787; Sir Samuel Hannay, of Mochrum Bart, July 30, 1791; John Hannay, of Rural of the Stew of Kircudbright, Aug. 25, 1797.

Also in the Edinburgh Marriage Register, 1500-1800: John Hannay married Marion Weir, Nov. 21, 1599; Margaret Hannay married John McClellan, Jan. 3, 1611; John Hannay married Catharine Kennedy, May 26, 1614; Barbara Hannay married James Sybbald, Oct. 4, 1614; Hew Hannay married Agnes Drysdaill, July 18, 1616; Andrew Hannay married Sibilla Heriot, June 21, 1626; John Ahannay, of Sorbie, married Christian Ball, June 22, 1626; Archibald Hannay married Catharine Weir, Nov. 4, 1628; John Hannay married Agnes Matthisone, July 2, 1630; Patrick Hannay married Margaret Purdie, Jan. 21, 1647; Beatrix Hannay married Alexander Denham, April 28, 1647; William Hannay married Janet Job, April 26, 1649; James Hannay married Isobel Luthrie, Nov. 1, 1649; Marion Hannay married George Smellum, March 10, 1663; Jean Hannay married Bernard Nimmo, May 1, 1666; Bessie Hannay married Andrew Cassie, June 2, 1670; George Hannay married Margaret Murray, Nov. 23, 1670; William Hannay married Alison Gray, Nov. 16, 1677; Samuel Hannay married Elizabeth Dummond, Dec. 21, 1688; Jean Hannay married John Wallace, May 9, 1697.

Various personages of the family of Hannay occur in the public records, as John de Hannay, 1424, procured a free pass

to Scotland in the ship he commanded from the King of England (Rotuli Scotioe, vol. 11); Robert Hannay, of Sorbie, son of Odo Hannay, 1488, Alexander Hannay, of Sorbie, 1500, etc.; Patrick Hannay sat for Wigtown in the Scottish parliament in 1581, and another Patrick Hannay in 1637. One of them married a daughter of Sir A. Stewart, of Garlies, ancestor of the Earls of Galloway, early in the 16th Century. Another of the race was James Hannay, dean of Edinburgh, in the time of Charles I, the same who, on reading the Liturgy by appointment of the King, on July 23, 1637, in the Cathedral Church of St. Giles, Edinburgh, was assailed by sticks, stones, bludgeons and joint-stools—the day of the "Jenny Geddes" riot. Another Sir Patrick Hannay was director of the Chancery in Ireland in the same age.

In 1630 Sir Robert Hannay, of Mochrum, descended from the Sorbie family, was created a baronet of Nova Scotia. He left a daughter Jane, married to Sir Robert Reading of Dublin, whose blood flows in the noble houses of Hamilton

and Abercorn.

In 1612 John Hannay, of Sorbie, was served heir to his father, Alexander Hannay, of Sorbie, and succeeded to a fine estate which had been added to by the church land at the time of the Reformation. Before the close of the century, the estates of Sorbie passed into the Stewart family, and now form a valuable portion of the possessions of the Earl of Galloway.

After the Sorbie estates went to the Earl of Galloway, in the latter part of the 17th. century, there still survived some junior branches holding lands of less value in Wigtownshire; of these were Kirkdale—the pedigree of which is given below—and Grennan. Originally, they also possessed Stancher, Strabreckan, the Gass and other properties stretching toward Ayishire; but Grennan, the land from which they took their designation, was also the latest which they possessed down to our own time.

Hugh Hannay, of Grennan, occurs in 1612; and another Hugh in 1631. The Hannay's were zealous Presbyterians. John Hannay, of Grennan, was fined for nonconformity in 1662.

Andrew Hannay was taken prisoner (as an ensign) at the battle of Dunbar, Grennan, in Wigtownshire (in which country—the original settlement of the family—there are now, we believe, no landholders of the name) remained in the possession of a junior branch of the Hannay's down to our own time.

It was sold by the widow of the late able and amiable Dr. Alexander Hannay, of Glasgow, the seventh in direct descent from Hugh Hannay, of Grennan, who succeeded to it in

1612. Cadets of this branch still exist among the landed gentry; of these are the Hannay's of Rusco, in the Stewarty.

The last direct representative of this branch was Alexander Hannay, of Grennan, who left two daughter coheiressess, the eldest of whom married her cousin and had by him two sons; 1st. the late Dr. Alexander Hannay, of Grennan, Glasgow, who married Marion, daughter of James Hannay, of Blairinnie, and by her had left two sons; 2nd. Robert Hannay, East India merchant.

In the reign of Charles II, Hannay of Grennan married Margaret McCullock, daughter of Sir Alexander McCullock, of Myreton, for his second wife, and had by her a son, John Hannay. From this John Hannay (besides others unknown) descended:

I. The late John Hannay, of Malabey and Crochmore in Kirkudbrightshire, who left Alexander Hannay, Esq., banker, in Dumfries, Elliot Hannay, Esq., war office, London, and other sons.

II. The late James Hannay, of Blairinnie, in the same county, son of Robert Hannay, merchant of Glasgow, by John Maxwell, of Newlaw (now represented by Maxwell of Breoch), descended from John Maxwell, and Agnes, his wife, daughter of Lord Herries.

This James Hannay married Maria Show, a descendant maternally of the Broune's of Carsluith, and McDowall's of

Glen; and of this marriage the following sons survive:

I. Robert Hannay, Esq., Advocate.

III. James Hannay, late Captain of the 8th regiment of Ballylough Co., Antrion, married and has sons Edmond, James, Robert and Alfred.

IV. John Hannay, Esq., of Lincluden Co., Kricudbrigh, married and has issue, James Lenox Hannay, barrister of the

Inner Temple.

V. Walter Hannay.

II. James Hannay, Esq., born at Dumfries, Scotland, Feb. 17, 1827. He was partly educated in England. At the age of 13 years he entered the Royal Navy as midshipman and served the following five years at the Mediterranean station.

In 1845, leaving the Royal Navy, he settled in London, devoting himself to literature. He contributed largely to the "Quarterly Review," "Westminster Review," "The Athemveun," "Punch," and other periodicals. In 1860-64 he was appointed editor of the "Edinburgh Courant."

At the general election of 1857, he became a candidate for the representation in parliament of the Dumfries burghs, which his father had twice contested in other days, but was

defeated.

In 1868 he was appointed British Chancellor at Brest and

then transferred to Barcelona, Spain. He died at Barcelona, Spain, on the ninth day of January, 1873.

The following is a list of his works:

"Biscuits and Grog," "The Scarlet Cup," and "Hearts are Trumps," were published in 1848.

"King Dobbs," a satirical romance, published in 1849. "The Poetical Works of Edger Allen Poe." Edited.

"Black Wood Carlyle" and "Singleton Fontenony," a novel of sea life which gave him a brilliant reputation, published in 1850, 3 vols., 8 vo. in 1855, a cheap edition.

"Sketches in Ultra Marine," a collection of Naval Papers (1848-52), and "Satire and Satirists." Six lectures, delivered

in the summer of 1853, and in London, 1853-4.

Notice of the life and genius of Edger Allen Poe, London, 1853.

'Sand and Shells," published in 1854.

"Eustance Conyers," a novel published in 1855, 3 vols., 1857, cheap edition, 12 mo. Translated into the German.

"Characters and Criticisms," a collection of essays first

published in periodicals.

"Brief Memoir of the Late Mr. Thackeray," published in 1864.

"A Course of English Literature," published in 1866.

"Three Hundred Years of a Norman House," published in 1867.

"Studies on Thackeray," published in 1869.

"A Critical Essay," published in the latter part of his life.

In 1639-40 Patrick Hannay (probably the Laird of Sorbie) sat in the famous Scotch parliament which signed the Solemn League and Covenant and was appointed a Colonel of Horse when the troubles began. Other members of the family were in positions of importance about that time. Sir Patrick Hannay was Director of the Chancellane in Ireland, and died in 1629. James Hannay was minister of the Abbey Church of Holyrood, and letters exist in MS. from Charles I, thanking this gentleman for his zeal in repairing the Abbey Church at his own expense.

Patrick Hannay, M. A., of the Sorbie family, published in 1622, a book of Curious poems which once had reputation, but are now very rare and almost forgotten. He was the grandson of Donald Hannay of Sorbie, and is supposed to have used his sword under Sir Andrew Gray in the service of the unfortunate but high-spirited Queen of Bohemia, daughter of our James VI and wife of the elector Palatine. He rose to the rank of General. These poems produced him some celebrity, among his eulogists were "Edward Leuenthrope, Robert Hannay, Johannes Dunbar, John Marshall, John

Harner, J. M. C., William Lithgow, and Robert Alane." The following is a specimen of the laudatory epistles which were dedicated to him by John Marshall, therein referred to, is the celebrated Galgacus, the leader of the confederate Caledonians against the Romans. From his having been thought to have learned the art of war in South Britain he was called Galdus or Gallus, the British word Gal signifying a stranger. In Scottish history he is known by the name of Cordrebus Galdus, (Mackenzie's "History of Galloway," 1841, vol. 1, p. 66, note) some accounts affirm that he was slain in a battle on the banks of the Cree, and interred at Cairnholy.

The poem is given as originally printed.

"To his much Respected Friend Master Patrick Hannay
"Hannay, thy worth bewrayes well whence thou'rt sprung,
And that that honour'd Name thou dost not wrong;
As if from Sorbies' Stock no branch could sprout,
But should with rip'ning time bear golden fruit.
Thy Ancestors were ever worthy found,
Else Galdus' grave had grac'd no Hannay's ground.
Thy father's father Donald well was knoune
To the English by his sword, but thou art shoune
By pen (times changeing) Hannay's are
Active in Acts of worth be't peace or warre,
Goe on in virtue, Aftertimes will tell,
None but a Hannay could have done so well."

King Galdus (that worthie) who so bravely fought with the Romans, lies buried in the lands of Patrick Hannay of Kirkdale in Galloway, Jo. Marshall.

The titles of his works are:

"Two Elegies on the Death of Queen Ann" with Epitaphs. London, 1619, 4 to. (See Appendix B.)

"A Happy Husband," or Directions for a Maid to chose her

Mate. London, 1619, 8 vo.

"A Wife's Behavor after Marriage," published in 1619, 8 vo. "Philomel" or The Nightingale; "Sheretine and Mariana;" "A Happy Marriage;" "Elegies on the death of Queene Ann;" "Songs and Sonnets." London, 1622, 8 vo. Of the latter collection Mr. Lounes, in his Bibliographers Manual (Part IV, p. 992) says: "A remarkable volume in five parts, engraved title by Cyprian de Passe, in eleven compartments, the bottom centre occupied with a portrait of the author." The last portion "Songs and Sonnets," was reprinted in 1841 in square 12 mo. 42 pages, by Mr. E. V. Utterson, at his private press at Beldornie, Isle of Wight, 12 copies only. One of them is in the Advocates' Library, in 1858 a copy sold for £1, 19s. An original copy of the "Two Elegies on the

Death of Queen Ann," small 4 to. (London, 1619) is also in the Advocates' Library.

A copy of his poems, a rare collection in five parts, published in 1622, with the original frontispiece by C. de Passe and portraits of Anne of Denmark and the author, cleverly executed by H. Rodd, sold at the sale of Archdeacon Wreangham's Library for £40. The same work, with a portrait of Anne of Denmark, by Crispin de Passe inserted, brought at Bindley's sale, £35, 14s. It was resold at Perry's sale for £38, 6s. Again at the sale of the books of Sir M. M. Syks it brought £42. Again at the sale of the Library of Rev. M. Rice, it brought £21. At Heber's sale the same book, wanting title and frontispiece, sold for £3, 9s.

A person of the same surname Robert Hannay, published at London in 1694, "An account of the Quakers at their yearly meeting in London on the 28th of the third month 1694," 4 to.

We find upon looking further a family of Hannay's, five boys, James, John, Andrew, David, and Thomas of Wigtownshire, Scotland, whose father's name we have failed to find.

Of these sons we only have an account of James who became a Presbyterian minister and settled at Richibucto, New Brunswick, Canada. He remained here several years. While in Canada one son named James was born April 22, 1842,

and in 1864 he married Margaret Ross.

He (James, Jr.) was called to the bar in 1867, and was appointed official reporter of the Supreme Court of the province 1867–73 and published two volumes of reports. Resigning his post, he became assistant editor of the Saint John Daily Telegraph 1873–83, and of the Montreal Herald 1883–84, and afterward serving on the staff of the Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1885–87, he returned to Saint John to take the editorship of the Gazette in 1888.

In 1893 he became chief editor of the Saint John Telegraph, and in 1901 official reporter of the New Brunswick Provincial Parliament. He wrote many ballads, stories, and sketches.

Among his historical works are:

"Nine Years a Captive," published in 1875.

"History of Arcadia," published in 1879.

"The Story of the Queen's Rangers in the American Revolution," published in 1883.

"The History of the Loyalists," published in 1893.

"The Life and Times of Sir Leonard Tilly," published in 1897.

"The War of 1812," published in 1901.

"History of the War of 1812 between Great Britain and the United States of America," published in 1905.

"How Canada was held for the Empire," published in 1905.

"Wilmot and Tilley," published in 1907.

"History of New Brunswick," published in 1909.

Among his other works are "New Brunswick, its Resources and Advantages," published in 1912, and his letters to Pall Mall Gazette "From an Englishman in Spain" which were highly appreciated. He died Jan. 12, 1910.

Soon after the birth of James, Jr., his father returned to Scotland where another son was born, this son was named John K. Hannay. James, Sr., died in Scotland in 1855; his

wife, however, returned to Canada.

John K. Hannay, is at present Cashier of the Farmers and Merchants Bank of Edison, State of Washington. He has two sons, one Arthur B. Hannay who is in the Press Gallery of the Parliament Buildings, Canada. The other son N. B. Hannay is Vice President of the First National Bank of Mt. Vernon, State of Washington.

In 1532 Alexander Hannay, a younger son of the Family of Sorbie purchased the lands of Kirkdale, Stewarty of Kirkcudbright and obtained a charter of the same, from his nephew Patrick Hannay, Esq., of Sorbie, paternal ancestor of the Hannay's of Mochrum.

This Alexander Hannay of Kirkdale left a son John Hannay who inherited that estate.

John's son, Patrick Hannay of Kirkdale, married Anne, daughter of Sir Patrick Mackey, Esq., of Larg, and was killed Dec. 16, 1610, in a conflict while assisting the Earl of Galloway against the Kennedy's of Blauquhan, at the Cruives of Cree.

His son Patrick A. Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale, by his wife Agnes, daughter of Gavin Dunbar, of Baldoon, a family now represented by the Earl of Selkirk, had a son William Hannay of Kirkdale who married Elizabeth, daughter of Alexander Gordon, Esq., of Castremont, cadet of the ancient family of Lochinvar, afterwards viscounts of Kermuir, succeeded

Patrick A. Hannay in 1640.

This William Hannay of Kirkdale had three sons, the eldest, Samuel Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale, who succeeded to the estate, married Jane, daughter and co-heiress of Patrick Mackie of Larg (by his wife Agnes, daughter of Sir Patrick Mackie of Larg), with issue. In 1704 he was commissioner of supply. The eldest son William Hannay of Kirkdale, married Margaret, daughter of Rev. Patrick Johnson of Grithon, represented by Col. Johnston of Carnsallock, with issue, two sons, Colonel Alexander Hannay the younger son deserves a memoir as one of the ablest and most distinguished

men that this ancient family ever produced. He entered the King's service about the middle of the last century, and was all through the German Campaigns, (including the battle of Minden) under the Marquis of Granby. When peace came he was a lieutenant, and supported by a splendid testimonial from his commander-in-chief. He offered his services to the East India Company. They gave him a captaincy, and he was wrecked in the Bay of Bengal, with the company under his command, suffering great hardships thus, at the outset of his India career. In a few years however he rose to Adjutant-General of the Army of India, and Warren Hastings' period found him commanding the forces of the Nabob of Oude.

Posterity has not allowed the great and gloomy impeachment which darkened Hastings' name for a time, to hide the glory of his genius or the greatness of the empire he attained for England; and Colonel Hannay will not be judged in our day by the voices of the Whig prophetess of that period. Hastings admired cordially Hannay's talents and character, and there is only one voice among the witnesses on the same subject.

Colonel Hannay displayed heroic courage and great abilities, during a difficult and dangerous career, and under circumstances where you cannot judge of a man's actions by the standard of ordinary life at home, in an old country. He died in India.

His eldest brother, Sir Samuel Hannay of Kirkdale a merchant in London, was, on Sept. 26, 1783, served and retoured male heir of Sir Robert Hannay of Mochurm, Bart., who was created a baronet of Nova Scotia, March 31, 1630, with remainder to his male heirs whatsoever. In 1768 he married Mary, daughter of Dr. Robert Mead, and for a number of years sat in parliament. He had four sons and four daughters. The eldest son Samuel succeeded his father in Dec., 1790. The three other sons all died unmarried. The daughters were: 1st. Margaretta, died unmarried; 2nd. Eliza, wife of George Woodroffe, Esq., without issue; 3rd. Jane, married Thomas Rainsford, Esq., and had a large family; 4th. Mary Hastings.

The eldest son, Sir Samuel Hannay, the next baronet, born Aug. 12, 1772, was in the service of the Emperor of Austria, and held an official post in Vienna, and also was colonel of the guards. He built a large mansion on his property, which forms a fine object from the Wigtownshire side of the bay.

The property is supposed to be the principal scene of Sir Walter Scott's novel "Guy Mannering;" and Dirk Hatterick's Cave, once noted for smugglers, is below the house. Sir Samuel died Dec. 1, 1841, unmarried, when the title became again dormant.

He was succeeded in the estates of Kirkdale by his sister, Mary Hastings Hannay, in virtue of a deed of entail, made by Ramsay Hannay, Esq., brother of the first Sir Samuel Hannay, he having purchased the estate on the death of his brother. Mary Hastings Hannay died unmarried March 20, 1850, and was succeeded in the estates of Kirkdale by her nephew, William Henry Rainsford Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale, (son of Capt. Thomas Rainsford, of the 2nd. life guards, by his wife Jane a sister of Sir Samuel Hannay, Bart. of Mochrum and Kirkdale) who assumed in consequence the surname of Hannay. He married Maria, widow of Robert Stewart, Esq., M. P. of Alderston Co., Haddington, and daughter of Lt.-Col. Samuel Dalrymple, C. B., descended from the noble family of Stair and dying in 1856 without issue. He was succeeded by his brother, the present Frederick Rainsford Hannay, Esq., born March 3, 1810.

Frederick Rainsford Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale, county of Kirkcudbright J. P. and D. L. son to the estate 1856 and thereupon added to his patronymic Rainsford the surname of Hannay, born March 3, 1810; late Major H. E. I. C. S., married Nov. 26, 1840, Rhoda, daughter of the late Oliver-Charles Johnston, Esq., and by her, who died Dec. 26, 1868,

had issue.

- I Ramsay-William, b. Sept. 9, 1844; Lieut. R. A., J. P. Co. Kirkcudbright.
- II Percival, b. Aug. 1, 1851.
- III Frederick, b. Sept. 7, 1854.
- I Mary-Charlotte.
- II Rhoda-Clara. III Constance, d. Aug. 19, 1868.

Kirkdale House is a beautiful and stately building of polished granite, in the parish of Kirkmaheck, lying to the left of the traveller's road westward, before he comes to the town of Gatehouse. The house stands fair and high on an eminence, surrounded by trees, which cover the valley. The site affords beautiful views, particularly by moonlight.

George Hannay farmed it at Drumaston in the town of Withorn, Wigtownshire, Scotland, and died there in 1872.

He many years ago contested his right as heir to the Hannay estates of Kirkdale, in Kirkcudbrightshire, but whether owing to lack of funds, or because his case was not good, he did not succeed.

The Kirkdale estates are still in the hands of the Rainsfords, who adopted the name of Hannay, as has been stated.

George Hannay married and had issue as follows: John who married Elizabeth Gourlay; Margaret who married a Mr. Miller; Elizabeth not married; Alexander married a Miss White; Robert not married; Mary who married Thomas Hoage; Isabella who married a Mr. Nunioch; Jessie who married James Fisher, and George who married Eliza B. Alston.

John, George, Alexander, and Mr. Thomas Hoage died about four years ago, within three months of each other. Mrs. Fisher died about a year ago. The remainder still survive.

George who married Eliza B. Alston left Scotland when he was a young man and settled in South Shield, New Jersey. He was employed in a bank and became manager and retired in 1906, and died in 1909.

He had issue as follows:

Alston who married Isabella Daglish in Australia; Jean who married George Hall; Frederick and Erskine both married but the names of who they married are not known; Gertrude who married George Scott; Isabella who married Hamilton Campbell; John Alexander died in infancy; Mabel died at the age of sixteen years; George Walton not married, and Gerald Hannay who married Lillian White.

Gerald who married Lillian White came to this country in 1891 and is Treasurer and Manager of the Oscar Barnett Foundry Co. of Newark, New Jersey.

The family of Hannay of Kuigsmuir, Fifeshire, claim to be representatives of the Hannay's of Sorbie, and are so described by Nisbeth. About the beginning of the 18th Century, Kuigsmuir became the property of the ancestor of the present proprietor, George Francis Hannay, Esq., whose ancestor Robert Hannay, advocate of Edinburgh, acquired the Kuigsmuir estate in marriage with a Livingstone, the widow of Colonel Borthwick.

In 1710 when Sibbald published his "History of Fife" the possessor of the estate was named Peter Hannay, Esq., of Kuigsmuir. Ann Hannay, who possessed it shortly afterward, was married to Capt. Erskine of Dun; but dying without issue, left it to her cousin James Hannay, son of Patrick Hannay, Esq. From this gentleman it passed to his brother John Hannay, Esq., of Kuigsmuir, he married a Miss Brown, and had George Hannay, Esq., of Kuigsmuir, who was an officer in the service of the Crown in the U. S. Adhering faithfully to the loyal side when the "Independence" controversy began, he was obliged to fly the country. By his wife (Miss Humbly, of Exeter) he left two sons, Peter Hannay, Esq., R. N., who served as a lieutenant under Nelson in the defiance at Trafalgar, and died without issue; and George Francis Hannay, Esq., the present possessor of the

estate. George Francis Hannay married Robina, only child of Robert Cunningham, Esq., of Pittarthie, Captain of the Army (whose grandfather Capt. Cunningham, R. N., was a claimant of the peerage of Glencarisn) and had a large family. Heir, his son George, Captain of the Fife Artillery, born 1824.

The estates of Kuigsmuir, which were at one period a common muir on which almost all the neighboring proprietors had a right of pasturage, and many a right of cutting turf, originally belonged to the Scottish Crown, but the present proprietor has devoted his time, and with very great success, to its improvement, and has considerably increased its value, during his tenure of it.

The family of Hannay of Rusco, Kirkcudbrightshire, was formerly from Wigtownshire. Robert Hannay, Esq., of Rusco, born in 1807, married Bridget, daughter of Thomas Smith, Esq., of London, with issue. Heir, his son, Robert, born in 1836.

The Hannay Arms are: Three roebucks' heads couped, Azure, collared, Or; with a bell pendent thereat, Gules. On the frontispiece of Mr. Patrick Hannay's book of poems are his Arms in Taliduce, with his picture, being Argent, three roebucks' heads, couped, Azure; with a mollet in the collar point, for his difference, his father Sir Francis Hannay being a younger son of Hannay of Sorbie, with a croslet fitched, issuing out of a crescent, sable; for crest and motto relative thereto, "Per Ardua Ad Alta." The family of Kuigsmuir, Fifeshire, carries the last blazon without the Mollet, and the same crest, with the motto, "Cresco Et Spero." (Nisbet's Heraldry, vol. 1, p. 335.)

Hannay, Argent, a cross crosslet fitchee sable issuing from a crescent gules, between three stags' heads cabossed. This is much defaced, and the name originally was Livingston of East Wemyss.

Ahannay of Sorbie, L.; argent three (? goats) heads, erased sable, collared argent, campaned azure. Sir James Balfour has—or a saltire between four martens heads couped sable; some of the MSS. makes the charges three roebuck's heads. The only registration is in 1784 by Sir Samuel Hannay of Mochrum and Kirkdale, baronet, heir male of the Sorbie family. Argent, three bucks' heads couped azure, collared or, with bells thereto pendant gules; he was allowed supporters—two roebucks proper.

The funeral entry in Ulster's register for Lady Hannay, who was buried at Christ Church, Dublin, 27th. March, 1662, gives the arms — first and fourth argent, three (? goats) heads

erased, azure, horned, or; second and third argent, three cross crosslets fitchee, issuing from as many crescents sable.

A similar crosslet and crescent form the crest of Sir Samuel, with the motto "Per Ardua Ad Alta." He was in 1783, served heir male, and assumed the long dormant title. His son Sir Samuel, d, s, p. 1841, and there are now two claimants to the honor.

Hannay (?) Argent — three stag's heads couped azure. The name is obliterated. (Stodart's "Scottish Arms." Vol. II, pp. 215, 241, 248.)

PART THIRD.

The following is taken from a bible in the possession of Mrs. Edgar Kenny of Madison Avenue, Albany, N. Y. Mrs. Kenny was named after her grandmother, therefore Archibald's and Mary's mother's name was Catharine Elizabeth

Archibald, b. Nov. 12, 1814; and Mary Ann Scrafford, b. Dec. 22, 1820, were married Feb. 7, 1840. Archibald d. Sept. 2, 1870.

Mary, sister of Archibald, married John E. Page.

Archibald Hannay and Mary Ann Scrafford's children:

David Minor, b. Aug. 19, 1841; d. March 2, 1842.

Lawrence, b. Jan. 3, 1843; d. Sept. 7, 1844. Rebecca Ann, b. July 24, 1845; d. May 2, 1846.

Lawrence Adelbert, b. Aug. 30, 1848, and Catharine Van Cott were married Aug. 15, 1869. Lawrence A. d. June 16, 1890.

Catharine Elizabeth, b. Sept. 7, 1853, and John Chubbick were married Aug. 25, 1870. For her second husband she married Edgar Kenny.

Willie S., b. April 22, 1857; d. Aug. 20, 18—.

Mary Hannay who married John E. Page had three children: William, Edmond, and Ella, they all married and lived in the south.

Lawrence A. Hannay and Catharine Van Cott's children: Archy, died in infancy.

Fred M., b. July 27, 1868, and Margaret Smith were married Dec. 14, 1902.

PART FOURTH.

In various newspapers we find several items relating to one Rev. James Owen Hannay, rector at Westport, County Mayo, and Canon of St. Patrick's (Protestant) Cathedral, Dublin, Ireland. He appears in the literary and dramatic world as George A. Birmingham.

Canon Hannay is in America as this book goes to press. He has prepared four lectures, "The Stage Irishman," "The Irishman in English Fiction," "The Literary Revival in Contemporary Ireland," and "The Economic Revival," which he will deliver in the course of a five weeks tour in many of the universities in the east. It is said of Canon Hannay that he has "rediscovered the Irishman for English Literature."

His latest play, the greatest comedy success of the London season (1912–1913), entitled "General John Regan," which had a long run at the Apollo Theatre, London, with William Hawtrey in the title role, was produced at Atlantic City, Oct. 27, 1913, with Arnold Daly in the title role under the direction of Liebler & Co., and is now being played in New York City at the Hudson Theatre.

Among his books are:

"The Wisdom of the Desert," London, 1904.

"The Seething Plot," London, 1905. "The Bad Times," London, 1908.

"The Search Party," London, 1909, and New York, 1911.

"The Northern Iron," Ireland, 1909.

"Lalage's Lovers," London, 1911, and New York, 1911.

"The Major's Niece," London, 1911.

"The Simpkins Plot," London, 1912, and New York, 1912.

"The Lighter Side of Irish Life," New York, 1912.

"Priscilla's Spies," New York, 1912.

"The Red Hand of Ulster," New York, 1912, and London.

"Spanish Gold," New York, 1912.

"The Inviolable Sanctuary," New York, 1912.

- "Dr. Whitty's Patient and Mrs. Challmer's Public Meeting," New York, 1912.
- "Miss Mulhall's Lecture and Dr. Whitty's Honeymoon," New York, 1913.

"The Adventures of Dr. Whitty," New York, 1913.

"An Intolerable Honour and Hygienic and Scientific Apparatus," New York, 1913.

"The Spirit and Origin of Christian Monasticism."

"General John Regan," New York, 1913.

PART FIFTH.

I have also learned of a John Hannay who married a Miss

Gertrude Rigby, who bore him five children, namely:

1st. Robert H.; 2nd. John W., who married Helen C. Brooks, with issue; 3rd. Bessie C. (deceased) who married Col. Allan Cunningham, R. E., English Army; 4th. Gertrude M., who married Murray Thompson, and 5th. Janet E., who married the Rev. Edward Everitt.

John W. Hannay who married Helen C. Brooks, had issue as follows: (See Appendix C.)

Helen D., John R. R., Emma E. G., and Allan K. B.

Helen D. Hannay married Major M. D. Crouin, U. S. A., without issue. John R. R. Hannay (see Appendix D) married Elizabeth W. Young, daughter of Lieut. Gen. S. B. M. Young, U. S. A., with issue. Emma E. G. married Capt. C. O. Thomas,

1st. Cavalry, U. S. A., with issue, and Allan K. B. married Katharine Lowe, without issue.

John R. R. Hannay, b. Jan. 13, 1875, and Elizabeth W. Young, b. March 24, 1883, were married Oct. 3, 1903, issue: Elizabeth Y., b. Jan. 1, 1906. Helen M., b. Dec. 7, 1906, d.

Aug. 14, 1907. Marjorie E., b. July 10, 1910.

Emma E. G. Hannay who married Capt. C. O. Thomas, issue: Elizabeth and Helen.

PART SIXTH.

Alexander Hannay came from Scotland with two of his brothers in the latter part of the eighteenth century. He settled in the southern part of the United States, although one son, James Beverly Hannay, was born in Philadelphia, Pa.

There was another child, a daughter, Catharine, who married a Cabdwell, and lives in Florida. She has a daughter who married Charles Berg and also lives in Florida.

James Beverly Hannay was married at Ripley, a small

town in Mississippi and had issue as follows:

John A. Hannay, who is at present publisher of the Versailles Leader, and collector of the revenue of Morgan County, Missouri, and a daughter who married Quincy A. Ellis.

PART SEVENTH.

Peter Hannay came from Scotland, and had issue, William C. Hannay who became a farmer and settled at Princeton, Schenectady County, N. Y., on a large farm, with issue.

John V. D. Hannay who married Lena M. Hannay of Schenectady, July 13, 1911, and are at present living at Ballston Spa., N. Y.

PART EIGHT.

In the catalogue of the New York Public Library we find the names of the following Hannays: Joseph A. Hannay, with six books to his credit, published between the years of 1894 and 1907. Also a Robert Hannay, with one book in regard to the jurisdiction of the house of commons to reform the abuses without the aid of Statute Laws, published in 1831, and a Thomas Hannay with one book entitled "Mort Aratsch" and other poems, published in 1911 by Fraches, Asher & Co., Scotland.

PART NINTH.

In the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute Bulletin for March, 1912, we find the name of one Neilson Campbell Hannay, B. A., B. D., Assistant Teacher in the English Language Department.

PART TENTH.

In the History of Albany and Schenectady Counties, compiled by Munsell, we find among the professional men born in the Township of Berne, Albany Co., N. Y., the name of John Hannay.

PART ELEVENTH.

In the Newark, N. J., City Directory, we find the names of two Hannays, Christopher Hannay, and Christopher Hannay, Jr., a hoseman in the Fire Department (probably father and son). Their home address as given is 25 Bergen Street, Newark, N. J.

PART TWELFTH.

We find in a sporting paper the account of a Hannay referee in a prize fight in Vancouver, B. C.

APPENDIX I.

Taken From Biographical Sketches of Andrew and David Hannay. By A. M. Hannay.

Andrew Hannay.1

Andrew Hannay was born in the town of Galloway, County of Galloway, Scotland, in the year 1733. Concerning his boyhood life scarely anything is known, but it is presumed, however, to have been quiet and industrious. He at some time learned the cooper's trade, and worked at that business in his native town. His education was limited, but he was possessed of a strong constitution and vigorous mind, plodding at his unremunerative business, but this it seems did not satisfy his ambition. He was resolved upon a change, whether for the better or not, time only would decide. No branch of business being open where he could secure profit and advancement, he at the age of twenty-four, enlisted in the King's service, in Col. T. Brudenull's Company, 51st. Regiment of Infantry, Major Montgomerie's Command. He served in the army six years, and was discharged on account of a stiff finger produced by a felon. The original document was in the hands of his late son David, filled out and signed by Col. T. Brudenull.

At some period of his service in the army he was married, his wife being a German lady. After getting his discharge, he returned with his family to his native town, where he was engaged, in company with another man, in building houses, for some ten or twelve years, gaining but small profit. Indeed it was barely possible in his native country for a poor man to secure a scanty living. The land was all owned by the aristocrats and all business controlled by them, while the poor were at least but servants to them, and were little cared for.

He now formed the resolution of coming to America, and some time in the year 1774 carried it into effect. He landed at New York with but four shillings left.

During the forepart of the first day he secured a place for his family to live, and in the afternoon found work for himself, and earned two shillings tending a mason. Thus situated he continued for some length of time. His great desire was to obtain land on which to raise substantial food for his family, and if possible to leave as an inheritance for his children. He soon fell in with a Mr. Kortright who owned a large tract of land in Delaware County, and was by him induced to go there and settle. So after making a contract he took the following directions, and proceeded thence to make a home. He was to go from New York to Albany, from there to Schoharie, to Breakabeen, to the township of Kortright, which was thirty miles from Schoharie.

There were four families with him, and leaving their wives and children in Schoharie, they pushed on to Kortright and there immediately commenced and finished in four days, four houses, one for each family. Then they returned to Schoharie for their families. When they returned they found their houses filled with snow, it being the winter time. Now he had a house and land but surrounded by almost unending woods, inhabited more or less by the savage Indians and wild beasts. In a country subject to heavy snows, with very few inhabitants, and with scarcely anything but his strong arms with which to clear off the woods and prepare the crops in the spring.

How well he succeeded is not known, as he did not live here very long. Want of means and the difficulty of procuring provisions compelled him to seek a home somewhere else.

One day after he had been thirty miles to the mill, and returning with the meal upon his back, he told his wife before it was used up she must prepare to move. He sold his possessions for three pounds and returned to Schoharie, where he settled and remained less than a year, after which for some length of time he was not permanently settled. He used to say, "I moved nine times in nine years and was never without bread for my family." At last he settled in the Town of Rensselaerville, Albany County, where he took land to work upon shares. He succeeded pretty well in raising grain, and lived here three or four years, but was finally driven away by the Indians who were very troublesome.

One day when he had gone from home, some Indians came to the house where his wife was alone and demanded pork. Upon being told that she had none, one of the foremost of them drew his scalping knife and struck her a severe blow in the breast, with the intention, no doubt, of killing her, but the blade striking the breast bone, thus prevented the wound from being a fatal one. To be more secure against the troublesome Indians, he moved his family to Bethlehem, in the same county, he and his son returning to take care of the crops.

One time as they were on their way home from labor, they stopped at the house of a Tory to stay over night, and took rest upon the floor near the fire-place. Late in the night they were all awakened by a noise at the door. Upon the door being opened it became known that a band of Indians were

outside, whose object seemed to be to make their friend a visit. Two or three of their number entered and after some conversation roughly asked who was lying in the bed on the floor. Being positively assured that only a part of his own family were there, they were induced not to disturb them, but they threatened that if they had any Yankees about the house they would take their hearts' blood in a minute. He and his son had lain almost breathless through the interview, and after the departure of the Indians, they carefully made their way into the adjoining wood to obtain rest for the remainder of the night. At one time the Indians were so troublesome, that some of the inhabitants built a fort in which to place their families in case of attack.

He used to tell an amusing incident in relation to this fort. The people were constantly on the watch lest the Indians should steal upon them. One morning a sharp firing of musketry was heard at no great distance from the settlement. The inhabitants immediately becoming alarmed, ceased their employment and proceeded to the fort for safety. Upon gathering it was ascertained that one man had been left plowing in his field ignorant of danger. A call was made for some one to volunteer to go and notify him and bring him to the fort. Andrew Hannay was the first to offer. The horses were quickly stripped of their harness, and himself taking one and the plowman the other, they hastily returned to the fort. Some time was now spent in preparing for the expected attack. Finally a counsel was held, and it was determined that some scouts should be sent out in the direction of the firing to ascertain if possible its cause and object.

Andrew Hannay again offered his services and with two or three others sallied forth. The locality was reached and his discovery soon made known the fact that the firing proceeded

from a few Indian boys shooting squirrels.

His sympathies were entirely against the English in the Revolutionary War, but the need of his presence at home always prevented him from joining the army. In the year 1777 when Burgoyne's campaign was brought to a crisis, he raised a company of volunteers and started with them to join Gen. Gates. Upon reaching Albany, the news came of Burgoyne's surrender and they disbanded and returned to their homes.

Soon after his removal to Bethlehem his wife died, leaving him with four children, three boys and one girl. He continued to live on here a year or two when he became acquainted with and married a widow named Towsick. Her maiden name was Elizabeth Ricord and she lived about twenty miles southwest of Albany, in what was then the Town of Coeymans. Her husband and only son had been carried

to Canada by the Indians and died there; leaving her with nine daughters to provide for as best she could. They managed to cultivate the land with their own hands and procure a

comfortable living.

They were always more or less harassed by fear of the Indians, who were often lurking about committing horrible crimes in the vicinity. Once they were taken to Albany for safety and remained there for some time until the country became more quiet and less dangerous. Andrew Hannay now obtained possession of a large tract of land principally covered with timber lying on both sides of what was called the Passic Creek (now called Basic Creek) in what is now the Town of Westerlo, Albany County.

The country was becoming more quiet and settled, and markets to some extent were being established, especially at Albany. It seems that the days had really come for realizing the fond hope he had entertained when leaving his native land. Peace and prosperity were not his lot for a long term of years. He remained here successfully engaged in farming and clearing off the land for the remainder of his life.

The offspring of his second marriage was one son, David. In the year 1800 his second wife died and he was some time afterward married again to a widow, Hannah Wendell, who had formerly lived in Dutchess County. He lived with her until his death, which occurred in the year 1808, he being the age of 75 years. At his request his remains were buried near the road in a beautiful field on his own farm. Such in brief is the history of his life. He was one of many who would not submit to live under the form of society, where the most sacred rights of man are held only by a few privileged characters. He chose rather to endure privation and hardships in a distant, wild and unsettled country, but where industry and perseverance were necessary for anyone to secure all the blessings of this life.

The names of his children by his first wife were James, John who married Adrian Whitmarch, Andrew who married Mary Ann Swop, and Elizabeth who married George Swop. The boys settled on lands given them by their father. Elizabeth and her husband moved to Pennsylvania, from thence to Canada, and afterwards back to Genesee County, N. Y., where she died. The names of his step-daughters were: Mary who married Chris John Price, and moved to Canada, and Hannah who married a Fineout, and moved to Schenectady, N. Y., and Catharine who married a Fineout, and moved to Canajoharie, N. Y., Elizabeth who married Peter Grant, and moved to Delaware Co., N. Y., and Eve who married a Ramsey, and lived in Bethlehem, Albany Co., N. Y., and Christine who married a Helegas, and lived in Berne, Albany

Co., N. Y., and Sarah who married a Swop, and moved to Holland Purchase, Genesee Co., N. Y., and Laney who married John Sager, and moved to Canada, and Margaret who married a Helegas, and moved to Berne, Albany Co., N. Y.

APPENDIX II.

David Hannay 6 was born Oct. 5, 1784. He was the only child resulting from the marriage of Andrew Hannay and Mrs. Elizabeth Towsick. The description given of the house in which he was born is, that the floor was made of basswood trees split, and the split surface smoothed with an axe; the roof was composed of basswood bark. Patience and industry, however, had rendered his humble abode pleasant and comfortable. His boyhood days, from the time he was possessed of sufficient strength, were almost entirely spent in hard labor, assisting his father upon the farm. The conveniences for farming used at the present time were then almost unknown. Even the most simple tools were of home manufacture, so that it then required to perform the same amount of work much more hard labor than in later times.

The simple tool the plow, which is now constructed in a thousand varieties, was then hewn out of wood and plated with strips of iron, the wheels of a wagon were frequently sawed from the huge body of a white oak tree. Pitchforks were cut from small crotched saplings, and similiar expedients were resorted to in all instruments of farm labor. These were looked upon as being the best that could be procured and were used with patience and were considered sufficient and effective.

Progress was necessarily slow in clearing the land of heavy timber and fitting it for producing crops. Here in peace and contentment they were satisfied to labor and to live.

Neighbors commenced gathering about them so that a society began to be established, but in many respects a very different society from that of the present day. The difficulty of raising extensive crops and a limited market caused everyone to live with the utmost economy. Neither men, women, or children desired anything better than good stout homemade clothes for wearing apparel and it was not often that children obtained boots and shoes to wear until they became grown up men and women. On all occasions a rude sleigh or wagon drawn by an ox team formed the conveyance, and some farm vegetables with bread made of corn meal or rye flour composed the usual satisfactory repast. Form and fashion and all the frivolities of society were the great lessons of life.

The people lived principally in log houses with huge fire places for cooking purposes and to protect them from the cold, and a feeling of brotherhood pervaded all who lived in the vicinity and each seemed to possess a full share of earthly enjoyment, as much if not more so, than the people of the present time. Trouble from the Indians, especially in the earlier times, was occasionally feared.

A novel custom was ordained by which the whole neighborhood could be quickly aroused in case of danger. Each family possessed a tin horn, and at the approach of danger, the family in trouble would sound the horn a number of times in quick succession, his neighbor would repeat the sound and so on until the remotest family was notified. In case they wished to communicate with each other to understand if all things were well, one long sound was given. The advantage of schools were then almost unknown.

David Hannay had the privilege of attending a common school some two or three months before he became a man. He, however, acquired principally by his own efforts a sufficient knowledge of the common branches to be able to read, and write, and to understand common business transactions. At the age of twenty-one years, Oct. 10, 1805, he was married to Miss Hannah TerBush. Three years later his father died.

He now came into possession of fifty acres of land which included the house where he was born. The old house, however, was in due time replaced by a larger dwelling. He soon after purchased more land, sufficient to make a large farm. This farm, on which he lived until he died, is situated in one of the most pleasant localities of that part of the State. A beautiful stream of water called Passic Creek (now called Basic Creek) runs through nearly the center of it. eastern half is slightly uneven forming a gradual slope down to the creek, while west of the creek is a broad, beautiful, flat even land which in cases of a severe freshet overflows with water, making permanent and very productive mellow land, while the upland is adapted to grain and pasture. Portions of the uplands are stony and it is interesting to see how by patient hard labor the whole farm except the flat has been divided into fields and each surrounded by a high stone wall. It is difficult to imagine how a man in one life-time could provide for the wants of a large family and change the wild forest into such cultivated fields.

In the course of a few years he began to be surrounded by children among whom were boys who soon became able to assist him. He usually enjoyed excellent health, and so with some exceptions did his children, but his wife for a long term of years was more or less affected with sickness which many times caused him sorrow and which tried his energies and sometimes darkened his prospects.

In the War of 1812, he was harassed by the difficulties and uncertainties incident to the war and by the fear of being compelled to leave his dependant family of little ones and join the army. Twice he had the good luck to escape the draft but the third time he was forced to prepare for duty in the army. On his way to the rendezvous he had the good fortune to secure a substitute who agreed to take his place for the amount of forty dollars and he immediately returned home to the utmost delight of his family. His good judgment and unexceptional habits of life won for him the confidence and esteem of all who knew him.

During his whole life he was never personally engaged in a law suit. He was often honored by town offices but had the self-denial to refuse them when he feared he was not competent.

Much of the land in this part of the country was a portion of the famous rent land and at many times there was much trouble and contention on account of paying the rent to the land holders. One odious feature in the conditions of the rent was the "Sixth Sale" by which the occupants in the case of selling were obliged to pay their land-holders one-sixth part of the money received. Through the efforts of David Hannay and other prominent men a suit to recover the "Sixth Sale" was resisted.

After being ably prosecuted and defended in the various courts of the State, it reached the Court of Appeals, and was finally decided in favor of the occupants of the land, and the unjust condition was forever removed. His whole life was marked by peace and quiet, and in all his transactions of private and public affairs, he was distinguished for good judgment, candor, and honesty.

A trait of his unambitious character is shown in the fact, that he never rode in a public conveyance,—railroad, steamboat, or even a stage coach. Though sometimes required to travel a long distance, he always preferred to provide a good conveyance of his own.

Concerning the public topics of the day, he was always well informed, and able to discuss them with interest and intelligence. In politics, he was an earnest Democrat.

The energies of his life were by no means altogether devoted to worldly affairs. During his entire life he was a member of the Baptist Church, and held various positions of responsibility and trust in the church. Many delicate questions pertaining to church matters were entrusted to his deliberations, judgment, and decision. His leisure hours were usually spent in studying the bible or in perusing religious books or newspapers. His Christian course of life was ever marked by strict devotion to duty, a calm but firm pursuit

of right and by always setting an example of Christian conduct. What a pleasure after a life of over four score years, to be able to reflect, that so many of those years have been

spent in the true and earnest service of his master.

His wife died, Nov. 2, 1841, age 53 years, by her he had fourteen children; eight sons and six daughters, of whom one is now living (Mrs. Angeline H. Green). Two of the daughters died, one when an infant, the twelfth child, and the other named Elizabeth, the fifth child, after a protracted illness, when nearly approaching to womanhood. One son, the eleventh child, named David, died in infancy.

July 16, 1842, he was again married to Miss Catharine Huyck, who was during his old age and feeble health an

agreeable, and pleasant companion.

At the age of eighty-two years when he died, his mental and physical powers were remarkably well preserved. He was buried on a beautiful mound in a field near the brook that was the scene of his boyhood sports.

APPENDIX III.

Charles Hannay 39 was killed, while driving an engine at Schenectady, N. Y., in a railroad accident, caused by a head-on collision.

APPENDIX IV.

Harriet Hannay 58 and her three children died within five months of each other with diphtheria. The children's names are not known, the dates of their deaths are as follows:

Dec. 10, 1862.

APPENDIX V.

Theron Hannay ⁶⁷ was a member of Company F, 147th Regiment, New York State Volunteers. He died at Fredricks City, Maryland, July 2, 1863.

APPENDIX VI.

David H. Green 98 was killed by falling off a scaffold on the Levi Blaisdell barn at Coeymans Landing, July 3, 1871. He lived 44 hours, both arms were broken and he also ruptured a blood vessel. He was 21 years of age.

APPENDIX VII.

The Corning Stock Farm plays an important part in the

early history of Albany, N. Y.

In 1540 Fort Castle was built by the French on the Hudson River opposite Albany and was used as a trading post. In 1615 a Dutch trading post was established at Fort Castle and the name changed to Fort Nassau.

In 1618 it was swept away by a spring freshet, and a new fort was built on the mainland near the mouth of the Norman's Kill at Tawassgunshee, the site of the old Corning Stock Farm, part of which is now owned by Edward S. Hannay, 175 and called Pleasant View Stock Farm.

APPENDIX A.

According to the old Statistical Account, a battle was fought between the Scots and English in 1150, on Glenquickenmoor, in which the Scottish General fell, then the Bishop of Whithorn seized his sword, to lead on the Scots to victory,—and was also killed. The patriotic bishop, it is said, was buried by his countrymen under the Holy-Cairn in Mr. Hannay's lands. We know, however, there was no such battle fought in that age. (Mackenzie's History of Galloway, Vol. I.)

APPENDIX B.

An epitaph on Queene Ann (wife of James VI). By Patrick Hannay:

Powers to do ill, and practice only good,
Humblest in heart, highest in place and blood,
Fairest and fre'st from loose desires in thoughts,
Pleasures to tempt, yet not disdained in ought.
With anxious care in courage ne're dejected.
Though course of joy, with no vain joy affected.
Know reader, whensoe're these lines you scand,
Such (and none such but she) was our Queene Ann.

APPENDIX C.

John Watts Hannay, England, Pa. 1st. lieutenant, 198th. Pennsylvania Infantry, Oct. 29, 1864; resigned Feb. 15, 1865; 1st lieutenant, 8th. United States Coast Artillery, March 10, 1865; honorably mustered out Feb. 10, 1866; 2nd. lieutenant, 3rd. Infantry, Sept. 28, 1866; 1st. lieutenant, Feb. 15, 1873; captain, Feb. 1, 1887; major, March 2, 1899; lieutenant colonel, 12th. Infantry, July 1, 1901; transferred to 30th. Infantry, Oct. 15, 1901; retired, Oct. 15, 1901, and now resides at La Jolla, California.

APPENDIX D.

John Robert Rigby Hannay, La. Minn. 2nd. lieutenant, 3rd. Infantry, July 9, 1898; 1st. lieutenant, 22nd. Infantry, March 2, 1899, and is at present captain of the 22nd. Infantry, stationed at Texas City, Texas.

$I\ N\ D\ E\ X$

P	AGE	PA	\GE
Abercorn, House of	40	Chubbick, John	51
Adair's, the	37	Cole, Mynard	9 38
Adams, Alexander	25 -28	Colmonell, Jonet	
Ahannay, Andro	38	Conrow, Josephine	23 14
John 37–38-		Court, Ann Augusta	19
Ahlhof, Minnie	16	Covenhogen, William	24
Akley, John S	21	Crouin, Maj. M. D.	52
Alane, Robert	43 48	Cunningham, Col. Allan	52
Alston, Eliza B	38	Capt	49 24
Applebee, Albert	28	George A 17-	
Charles	16	John, Jr	38
Matie E.	28 -0	Robert	49
Atkins, Archibald C	18	Robina	49
William	30 17	Cuyle, Austin	38 22
Austria, Emperor of	46	Daglish, Isabella	48
Babcock, Joseph	II	Dalrymple, Maria	47
V. W	25	Lieut. Col. Samuel	47
Badgley, Maria	12	De Anneth, Gilbert Deeby, Jesse	37
Bagg, Caroline A	25 18	De Hannaye's, the	23 37
John	II	De Hanneth's, the	37 37
Lucy	18	De Hanneth, Gilbert	37
Balfor, Sir James	49	Deitz, Mary	II
Baliol's, the	37	Phoebe	II
Ball, Christian	39 26	Theodore	15 18
Barney, Mason H	23	Denhan, Alexander	39
Barnum, Walter A	26	Dibble, Newton J	22
Becker, Harriet	12	Dickson, Ada	14
Sarah F	25 20	Dixon, Elizabeth R II-	-
Bellinger, Amanda	20 20	Jonah	13
Berg, Charles	53	Doneburg, Meta	20
Bice, Minard R	20	Drysdaill, Agnes	39
Birmingham, George A	51	Dunbar, Agnes	45
Blaisdell, Levi	62	Gavin	45
Borthwick, Col.	42 48	Dummond, Elizabeth	42 39
Boynton, Lorenzo	21	Durham, Hattie	25
Brady, É. S	18	Edmonds, Ada M	25
Briggs, Edward F.	27	Arthur	25
George C	15 27	Bessie F	25 25
Helen E.	27	Edward	25
Maud F	27	Henry G	13
Russell T.	27	Henry L.	25
Britton, Charlotte O	19	Jennie Edwards, Jerome	25
Brooks, H. C	52 41	Ellis, Jennie	16 16
Brown, Miss	48	Quincy A	53
Brudenull, Col. T	55	Mrs. Quincy A	53
Brunk, Emma	II	Erskine, Capt.	48
Rebecca J	14	Evans, Charles M Everitt, Rev. Edward	27
Bush, Vernie A	57 17	Fancher, Frank S	52 32
Cabdwell, ——	53	Farrington, William	
Campbell, Hamilton	48	Fineout, ———	23 58
Carey, Minnie	19	Fisher Adalada	58
Casey, E. H	25 38	Fisher, Adalade	13 48
Cassie, Andrew	39	Ford, Martha L	40 18
Castle, Anna	18	Fowler, Elmira E	II
Belva	18	Henrietta	ΙΙ
Charles R	18	Fox, Elizabeth	22
Eldora	18	Fuller, Dewey B	32
Thomas S.	18	Galloway, Earl of40-	IO -45
Chamberlain, Annie	16	Lord	37
Chapman, Daniel	12	Gates, Gen. Horatio	57

P	AGE	PAGE
Gibbons, Burt	28	Ann Frances 18
Goeldner, Ernest D	34	Anna Louisa 31
Gordon, Alexander	45	Ann Maria 10
Elizabeth	45	Ann 48
Gould, Minnie	22	Archibald H 38
Goureay, Elizabeth	47	Archibald
Granby, Marquis of	46	Archibald 39
Grant, Peter Gray, Alson	58	Archibald 51 Archy 51
Sir Andrew	39 42	Arthur B 45
Green, Alonzo	10	Babe
Mrs. Angeline H	62	Barbara 39
David H 15	-62	Beaman 18
Edna M	27	Beatrice E 32
Hattie M	27	Beatrix 39
Helen	27	Belvia 24
Jane Lodewick H	15	Bertha E 35 Bertha M 23
Rosie A	15 27	Bertha M 23 Bertha 18
Greene, Effie	20	Bertha 24
Gregory, Charles J	30	Bessie C 52
Guerder, Frances S	17	Bessie M 35
Rozania	29	Bessie 39
Haines, Adam H.	II	Bessie 39
Hannah Maria	10	Betsey 10
Hakes, C. R	II .0	Brunk 31
Hall, George	48 10	Byron 24 Caroline H 34
Marion	10	Carrie M
Halstead, Anna B	18	Carrie
Hamilton, House of	40	Catharine E 21
Hancock, D. C	25	Catharine E 51
Haner, Harriet M	20	Catharine H 10
Hannay, Abigial	39	Catharine 9
Abraham	10	Catharine 53
Adaline	11 22	Charles E
Addie E.	32	Charles
Adelia C	24	Christopher 54
Adella M	26	Christopher, Jr 54
Agnes M	35	Clara 21
Agnes	39	Clarence H 19
Alexander, Col.	24 45	Clifford B
Alexander, Dr 40-		Cornelius 23
Alexander H	38	David A 13
Alexander S	25	David H 12
Alexander	10	David H 22
Alexander	38	David H 23
Alexander Alexander	38	David L
Alexander	39 40	David M 51 David, Jr. 10
Alexander	40	David
Alexander	41	David 10
Alexander	41	David 38
Alexander	45	David 44
Alexander	48	Delia Ann 12
Alexander	53	Donald 42
Allan K. B	41	Donald
Almira	52 12	Dorothy E
Almond	24	Edmond 41
Alston	48	Edward A
Ambrose B	20	Edward A 35
Ambrose S	II	Edward W 15
Ameretta	23	Edward S
Amiel M	12 10	Edwin E
Andrew D	10	
Andrew9-		Eliza Ann 11
Andrew	9	Eliza 46
Andrew	11	Elizabeth Y 53
Andrew	39	Elizabeth
Andrew	40	Elizabeth 10
Andrew Andro	44	Elizabeth 22
Andro	38	Elizabeth 25 Elizabeth 48
Angeline H.	39 10	1711
Ann Augusta	12	Elnora 12
		14

P	AGE	PAGE
Elnora	17	Hew H 38
Elnor J	20	Hew 39
Elsie A	17	Howard 23
Emery	23	Howard 34
Emma E. G	5 <i>2</i> 18	Hubert W 31
Emma Ernest C	10	Hugh 40 Hugh 40
Ernest	23	Hugh 40 Ida 16
Erskine	48	Infant Son 24
Estella A	23	Isaac
Estella	26	<u>Isabelle</u> 48
Ethel G	34	Isabelle
Ethel L Ethel M	19 34	Isaiah H
Euphema A.	3 4 2I	Isobel
Eva	23	Jacob
Evaline	II	James B 19
Everett J	31	James B 53
Flora B.	32	James L 41
Florence	15 35	James O 51
Ford E.	34	James 9 James 13
Ford H.	22	James 38
Francis, Sir	49	James 38
Franklin S	34	James 39
Frank T	22	James 39
Frank	20	James 40
Fred M.	24 51	James 41 James 41
Fred	16	James 41
Frederick R	47	James 41
Frederick	47	James 41
Frederick	48	James 42
George B., Jr	23	James 44
George B	12 21	James
George, Capt.	49	Jane
George F	12	Jane 40
George F	48	<u>J</u> ane 46–47
George F	49	Jean 39
George W	14 48	Jean
George	45 II	Jay B 25
George	31	Jefferson T 16
George	34	Jennie
George	38	Jesse C 29
George	39	Jessie H 32
George	39 47	Jessie
George	48	John A 48
George	48	John A 53
Gerald	48	John B 20
Gertrude M	52	John de 39
Gertrude	. 48 . 39	John H
Gilbert	39 39	John K 45 John L 17
Gilbert	39	John M.
Gracie	22	John M 39
Gracie	26	John R. R 52-64
Hamilton F	12	John V. D 53
Hannah E.	31 14	John W
Harold E.	34	John 10
Harriet A	35	John 38
Harriet		John
Harvey J	16	John 38
Harvey S	17 23	John 38 John 38
Hattie	23 22	John 39
Hattie	22	John 39
Helena	35	<u>John</u> 39
Helen A	15	John 39
Helen D	52	John 39
Helen	53	John 40 John 40
Helen	34 39	John 41
Henry C	3 2	John 41
Henry J	II	John 41
Henry T. B	10	John 44

PAGE	PAGE
John 45	Patrick 40
John 47	Patrick 40
John	Patrick 42-49-64
John 52	• Patrick 43
John 54	Patrick 43
Jonet 38	Patrick 45
Joseph A 53	Patrick 45
Katy D 9	Paul 34
Kenneth 34	Percival 47
Lady 49	Peter V 17
Lawrence A 51	Peter 48
Lawrence A 51	Peter 48
Lena M 53	Peter 53
Leonard 11-13	Phillip
Leonard 23	Philo S 12
LeRoy 28	Ralph D 35
Lillian B 35	Ramsey W 47
Lilliam M 29 Lodewick	Ramsey 47
Lola M	Raymond C
Lucetta R	: .
Lucille	Rebecca A 51 Reuben 26
Lucy 11–13	Rhoda-Clara 47
Luella 24	Richard 39
Lusena A	Robert H 39
Luther 9	Robert H 52
Lydia	Robert, Sir 40
Lynn D 32	Robert, Sir 46
Mabel 48	Robert 38
Malie 38	Robert 39
Margaretta 46	Robert 40
Margaret II	Robert 41
Margaret 38	Robert 41
Margaret 39	Robert 41
Margaret 47 Marjorie E 53	Robert 41 Robert 42
Marjorie E 53 Marjorie 31	
Maria	Robert
Maria 21	Robert 48
Marion A 35	Robert 49
Marion 38	Robert 49
<u>Marion</u> 39	Robert 53
Marion 41	Rosella 12
Mary A 12	Ruth 12
Mary A 10	Ruth 28
Mary A	Sally
Mary E 20	Samuel, Sir 39-46-49
Mary E 24	Samuel, Sir 49
Mary F 15	Samuel 39
Mary H 46-47	Samuel 45
Mary S 11	Samuel 46
Mary 10	Sanford C 19
Mary 23	Seldon H 19
Mary 48 Mary 51	Stephen A 20
Mary 51 Maud 23	Stroble E
May 34	Theresa 12
Meta K	Theron
Minerva 22	Thomas 38
Muriel M 33	Thomas 38
Mildred D 35	Thomas $\dots 39$
Mildred M 34	Thomas 39
Myra 22	Thomas 39
Naomi A 20 Neilson C 54	Thomas
Neilson C 54 Nelson	Thyrza 23
N. B 45	Ursula 22
Odo 40	Victor E 32
Orastes F 35	Viola G 35
Orson L 11	Walter 41
Orville 26	Willard A 22
Patrick A 45	Willard H 34
Patrick M. A 42	Willie D
Patrick, Sir 40 Patrick, Sir 42	
Patrick, Sir 42 Patrick 38	Willie S
Patrick 38	William, Capt 39
Patrick 39	William, Capt 39
••	

P	AGE	1	PAGE
William H. R	47	Kortright, Mr.	56
William V	28 28	LaPaugh, Catharine	II
William	15 38	Charity Eliza Ann	IO II
William	38 38	Henry	10
William	38	Lydia F	14
William	38	Phillip	11 10
William	39 39	Lapham, Maria	12
William	39	Lasher, Hattie M	19
William	39	Leach, Charles D	15
William	39 39	Charles D Frank H	27 27
William	45	Lester, J. K.	32
William	45	Leuenthrope, Edward	42
Harner, John	43 22	Lindsay, Sir David Lithgow, William	38 43
Hastings, Warren	46	Livingstone, ——	48 48
Hathaway, Mary	39	Lochinvar, Family of	45
Helegas, ————————————————————————————————————	58 59	Lockwood, Amiel	. 35
Hempstead, Elme	II	Loomer, Bertha M	26
Heriet, Sibilla	39	Charles H	15
Herries, Agnes Lord	41 41	Ethel F Loucks, Elvira	26 11
Hill, Frank M.	41 24	John A	16
Hilson, Edith	32	Lounes, Mr	43
Erven	32	Lounsbury, Ward	29
Henry J	19 1 9	Lowe, Katharine Luthrie, Isobel	53 39
Idella	32	Lyon, Lord	38
Hilzinger, John L	19	Maby, Minerva	10
Hinckley, Charles E Hoage, Thomas	19 48	Mackey, Ann Patrick	45 45
Holmes, Reuben R	21	Mackie, Agnes	45
Hotailing, Eugene	30	Jane	45
Frank	18 -30	Sir Patrick	45 45
Herbert	30	Mann, Alice	2I
Houghtailing, Grenville	24	Marchland, William	38
Howes, James	30 48	Marshall, John 42 Matice, Catharine M	2-43 12
Hunt, Eugene M.	26	Matthisone, Agnes	39
Huyck, Catharine	9	Mauhinney, John M	19
James, Henry T.	15 15	Maxwell, Agnes	41 41
Job, Janet	39	John	41 41
Johnson, Col	4:5	McAdam, Jonet	39
Margaret	45	McBryde, Marion	38 39
Rev. Patrick	47 45	McCullock, Sir Alexander	39 41
Rhoda	47	Margaret	41
Jones, Charles Emley	15 16	McCullock's, the	37
Florence E 27		McDowall's, the	23
Josiah	10	Mead, Mary	46
Sarah	18	Dr. Robert	46 27
Kennedy's, the	39 45	Merk, Gustav	27 12
Kenny, Edgar	51	Horace	12
Kimball, Bertha M	23	Peter A	16 48
Charles II40	-42 4I	Milles, James	12
Edward I	39	Montgomery, Maj	55
Galdus	43	Moss, J. Mae	25
James IV	38 42	Murray, Margaret	39 37
Kingsley, Cassius L	21	Myers, Louisa	17
Kirkland, Harriet M	II -6	Nimmo, Bernard	39
Knowles, Alice	16 19	Niver, David	39 48
Edgar C	19	O'Connell, ——	15
George C	II	Olney, L	14
Lucena L Luella	19 19	Oude, Nabob of	46 51
Mary F	19	Ella	51 51
Orville A	19	John E	51
Willis H Knox, Margaretta A	19 21	William	5 I
	~ 1	Lamer, Limena D	25

_		2.02
Catharine	AGE	PAGE Susie 18
Cora E.	13 25	Thomas 49
David S	14	Snyder, Margaret Ann 11
Dorie	25	Sollitt, Frederick
Effie C Jewett S	19 25	Spaulding, Alice B
Passe, Cyprian de43		Arthur J 33
Paterson, Marion	38	Corie J 33
Pearson, Katharine	38 21	Evenie L
Frank	12	Hannay A
Jerry	12	Marchi 33
Nora	21	Ruth L 33
Pitcher, Detia Frank L	20 21	William A 21 Sperbeck, Louisa
Harriet	20	Spickerman, Arcelia 20
Joseph 12		Arkel 20
Phoebe Sarah	2I 2I	Delia A 20 Edward 12
Pompaney, Adela	27	Harriet J 20
Price, Chris John	58	Mary E 20
Prindle, George	10	Orson 20
Proper, Clarence J	2I 2I	Sprigg, Mary T
Laverne	33	Staley, Margaret 33
Purdie, Margaret	39	Stanford, Johnathan 12–12
Putman, Georgina	19 16	Stanton, Dewitt
Quance, Ellen C.	12	Frank
Rainsford, Capt. Thomas	47	Lezetta 16
Thomas	46 -20	Mary A 16
Ramsey, ——	58 40	Myron L
Richards, Baby Boy	30	R. Fenton 16
Charles	30	Sarah L 16
Ivan William	30 17	Saphrona H
Ricord, Elizabeth	57	Family of
Rigby, Gertrude	52	Maria 47
Rodd, H	44	Robert 47
Roe, Milo	27 20	Stevens, George L
Ross, Margaret	44	Story, Raymond 27
Rundell, John S.	II	Stott, Hattie 24
Satie T 17 Safford, Naomi	-17 12	Strang, Howard
Sager, John	59	Swan, Genivieve 22
Salisbury, Raymond E	22	Swarthout, Abraham 11
Saxton, Catharine A	14	Swop, Fred 9
Dewitt	14 14	George 59
Hattie	14	Mary Ann 9
M. Belle	14	Sybbald, James
Nathaniel	10 27	Taskirton's, the
Schultze, Johanna	27	Ter Bush, Hannah 9
Scott, George	48	Thomas, Capt. C. O 52
Sir Walter Scrafford, Mary Ann	4 <u>6</u> 51	Elizabeth 53 Helen 53
Seaman, Emma M	28	Thompson, Murray 52
Selkirk, Earl of	45	Thomson, Bessie 39
Shafer, Jennie M	25 25	Towsick, Catharine
Shaver, Augusta	15	Elizabeth R 9
Frederick B	22	Elizabeth 58
Sheldon, Alice	18	Eve 58
Ethel	1 <i>7</i> 30	Hannah 58 Laney 59
Eva E	30	Margaret 59
Gertie M	30	Mary 58
Shelmantine, Elizabeth	12 10	Sarah
Show, Maria	4I	Uterson, E. V
Simmons, Cyrus C	12	Van Alstyne, Lillian
Skinner, Charlotte P	23	Van Cott, Catharine 51
Smellum, George	39 39	Van Derpoel, Harriet 30 Luella 15
Smith, Bridget	49	Van Derzee, Alonzo 10
Margaret	51	Dewitt 15

P.	AGE	1	PAGE
Hannah Maria	15	White, Lillian	. 48
Jessie	15	Miss	
Lowie	15	Whitford, Louisa	
	•	Nathan	. 12
Mary Ann	15		
Van Vlerin, Rozania	19	Sarah	• _9
Van Wie, Ezra	33	Whithorn, Bishop of	. 64
Grace	33	Whitmarch, Adrian	. 9
Veterpont's, the	37	Wieldy, Myrtle	. 28
Vincent, Lodasea	II	Williams, Phoebe E. C	. 12
Vroman, Edwin C	33	Wilsey, Elizabeth	
Gracie M	33	Mary	. 10
Martin T.	21	Wilson, Jean H.	. 28
Minnie R	33	John	
Wallace, John	39	John	
Weaver, Albert	II	Ruth	. 28
Estella	19	William	. 23
Susanna	12	Wood, Sarah L	. 22
Weidman, Nicholas	II	Woods, David	. 20
Weir, Catharine	39	William	. 22
Marion	39	Woodroffe, George	. 46
Welch, Mary C	12	Wreanghams, Archdeacon	• 44
Ruth A.	10	Wylie, Helen	
Wendell, Hannah		Young, Elizabeth W	. 52
Whithal Addia M	9	Lieut. Gen. S. B. M	
Whitbeck, Addie M	26		
Philo B	25	Zimmerman, Alonzo	. 20